
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Chief Executive 
 

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP 
 
 

Councillor Paul Nolan (Chair) 

Councillor Keith Morley (Vice-Chair) 

Councillor Chris Carlin 

Councillor Ron Hignett 

Councillor Valerie Hill 

Councillor Joan Lowe 

Councillor Carol Plumpton Walsh 

Councillor June Roberts 

Councillor Dave Thompson 

Councillor Bill Woolfall 

Councillor Geoff Zygadllo 

 
 

Please contact Ann Jones on 0151 511 8276 Ext. 16 8276 or 
ann.jones@halton.gov.uk  for further information. 

The next meeting of the Committee is on Monday, 3 September 2018 
 

Development Control Committee 
 
Monday, 6 August 2018 6.30 p.m. 
The Board Room - Municipal Building, 
Widnes 

Public Document Pack



 
ITEMS TO BE DEALT WITH  

IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

Part l 
 
Item No. Page No. 
  
1. MINUTES 
 

1 - 6 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
  

 

 Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or Other Disclosable Interest 
which they have in any item of business on the agenda, no later 
than when that item is reached or as soon as the interest 
becomes apparent and, with Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, to 
leave the meeting prior to discussion and voting on the item. 
 

 
 

3. PLANNING APPLICATIONS TO BE DETERMINED BY THE 
COMMITTEE 

 

7 - 74 

 
 
In accordance with the Health and Safety at Work Act the Council is 
required to notify those attending meetings of the fire evacuation 
procedures. A copy has previously been circulated to Members and 
instructions are located in all rooms within the Civic block. 



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 
At a meeting of the Development Control Committee on Monday, 2 July 2018 at Civic 
Suite, Town Hall, Runcorn 
 

Present: Councillors Nolan (Chair), Morley (Vice-Chair), Carlin, R. Hignett, 
V. Hill, J. Lowe, C. Plumpton Walsh, June Roberts, Thompson and Zygadllo  
 
Apologies for Absence: Councillor Woolfall 
 
Absence declared on Council business: None 
 
Officers present: A. Jones, J. Tully, T. Gibbs, A. Plant, J. Eaton, G. Henry, 
P. Peak and M. Pagan 
 
Also in attendance: 5 Members of the public 
 

 

 Action 
DEV1 MINUTES  
  
  The Minutes of the meeting held on 9 April 2018, 

having been circulated, were taken as read and signed as a 
correct record. 

 

   
DEV2 PLANNING APPLICATIONS TO BE DETERMINED BY THE 

COMMITTEE 
 

  
 The Committee considered the following applications 

for planning permission and in accordance with its powers 
and duties, made the decisions described below. 

 

   
DEV3 - 17/00389/FUL - PROPOSED DEMOLITION OF THE 

EXISTING OUTBUILDINGS AND CONSTRUCTION OF 
RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT COMPRISING 12 NO. 
ONE BEDROOM APARTMENTS AND 12 NO. TWO 
BEDROOM APARTMENTS WITH ASSOCIATED PARKING 
AND RECONFIGURED PARKING PROVISION FOR 
APPLETON VILLAGE PHARMACY ON LAND TO THE 
REAR OF APPLETON VILLAGE PHARMACY, APPLETON 
VILLAGE, WIDNES 

 

  
 The consultation procedure undertaken was outlined 

in the report together with background information in respect 
of the site. 

 

 

ITEMS DEALT WITH  
UNDER DUTIES  

EXERCISABLE BY THE COMMITTEE 
 

 

Page 1 Agenda Item 1



Since the publication of the agenda Members were 
advised of the following updates: 
 

 As per paragraph 6.9, if the recommendation was 
agreed, a condition securing affordable housing 
would be attached; and 

 An upfront payment in lieu of on-site open space 
provision had now been made, so the 
recommendation on the application was to grant 
planning permission subject to conditions. 

 
The Committee agreed that the application be 

approved subject to the conditions listed below. 
 
RESOLVED:  That the application be approved 

subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. Time limit – full permission; 
2. Approved plans; 
3. Existing and proposed site levels (BE1); 
4. External facing materials (BE1 and BE2); 
5. Soft landscaping scheme (BE1); 
6. Boundary Treatments scheme (BE1); 
7. Breeding birds protection (GE21); 
8. Reasonable avoidance measures and mitigation – 

bats (GE21); 
9. Protection of reptiles (GE21); 
10. Japanese knotweed method statement; 
11. Japanese knotweed validation report; 
12. Hours of construction (BE1); 
13. Construction management plan (Highways) (BE1); 
14. Electric vehicle charging points scheme (CS19); 
15. Provision and retention of parking for residential 

development (BE1); 
16. Provision and retention of 10 no. car parking spaces 

for Appleton Village Pharmacy (BE1); 
17. Off-site highway works (BE1); 
18. Implementation of noise mitigation measures (PR2); 
19. Affordable housing scheme (PR14); 
20. Ground contamination (PR14); 
21. Drainage strategy (PR16); 
22. Foul and surface water on a separate system (PR16); 

and 
23. Waste audit. 

   
DEV4 - 18/00174/FUL - PROPOSED RESIDENTIAL 

DEVELOPMENT COMPRISING 24 NO. DWELLINGS WITH 
FULL DETAILS FOR ACCESS, LANDSCAPING, SCALE, 
LAYOUT AND APPEARANCE AT FORMER RIVERSIDE 
COLLEGE, PERCIVAL LANE, RUNCORN AND 

 

Page 2



18/00176/REM - RESERVED MATTERS APPLICATION 
RELATING TO OUTLINE APPLICATION 16/00131/OUT 
FOR DETAILS RELATING TO APPEARANCE, SCALE, 
LANDSCAPING AND LAYOUT ON FORMER RIVERSIDE 
COLLEGE, PERCIVAL LANE, RUNCORN 

  
 The consultation procedure undertaken was outlined 

in the report together with background information in respect 
of the site. 

 
Members were advised that since the publication of 

the Committee agenda one further objection had been 
received questioning the suitability of the access from Old 
Coach Road and the additional traffic causing noise 
pollution.  These matters were both addressed in the 
Transport Assessment and as detailed in the report.   

 
Further it was reported that discussions had been 

ongoing with the developer and a number of the substantive 
issues were considered to have been addressed, as outlined 
in the Officer’s presentation and accompanying amended 
plan of the scheme which was presented to Members.   It 
was noted that a number of key issues still had to be 
addressed such as drainage details, minor highway 
amendments, queries relating to invasive species and 
biodiversity features; Officers were working with the 
developer to resolve these.   The Council’s retained adviser 
had confirmed that further information was required on 
measures to mitigate construction impacts on the Mersey 
which should enable the holding objection from Natural 
England to be overcome.  In addition a consultation 
undertaken on the amended plans did not expire until 6 July 
2018. 

 
Following the Officer’s presentation one Member 

requested that the heritage value of the site be recognised 
by the developer as it interfaced with the locks and 
Bridgewater House, both of which have historical 
significance in Runcorn.   Suggestions such as a plaque, 
sculpture and street naming were made, which he felt would 
complement the scheme and go towards keeping the 
heritage of the area alive.  Officers would speak to the 
applicant regarding this. 

 
After taking into consideration the report, updates and 

comments made, the Committee agreed that authority be 
delegated to determine the applications subject to the 
conditions below. 

 
 

 

Page 3



RESOLVED:   
 
That authority be delegated to the Operational 

Director – Policy, Planning and Transportation, in 
consultation with the Chair or Vice Chair, to determine the 
applications subject to any consultation responses, 
resolution of the outstanding issues and subject to the 
following conditions which may be amended as required: 
 

a) The entering into a Legal Agreement or other 
agreement for the maintenance of specified land in 
accordance with the landscaping requirement of the 
permission and the transfer of that land to the Council 
upon written notice for the purposes associated with 
the reinstatement of the former Bridgewater Canal 
and that the College expend all of the net land 
receipts of the sale of the site to discharge debt in 
respect of improvements on land and property 
belonging to it. 

 
b) For application 18/00174/FUL, conditions relating to 

the following: 
 
1. Specifying approved plans (BE1); 
2. Requiring development be carried out in 

accordance with the approved Construction 
Environmental Management Plan, including 
measures for wheel cleansing facilities, 
construction vehicle access routes, construction 
parking and management plan, noise and dust 
minimisation measures (BE1 and GE21); 

3. Materials condition, requiring the development be 
carried out as approved (BE2); 

4. Landscaping condition, requiring submission and 
approval both hard and soft landscaping, including 
native planting and replacement tree planting 
(BE2); 

5. Boundary treatment condition requiring the 
development be carried out as approved (BE2); 

6. Construction and delivery hours to be adhered to 
throughout the course of the development (BE1); 

7. Vehicle access, parking, servicing etc, to be 
constructed prior to occupation of properties / 
commencement of use (BE1); 

8. Requiring submission and agreement of a scheme 
of works for environmental inspection relating to 
further detailed site investigation / mitigation / 
verification (PR14); 

9. Requiring submission and agreement of gas 
protection measures (PR14); 

Page 4



10. Requiring submission of verification reporting 
post-completion of the proposed remediation 
works including details of the cover system and 
gas protection measures installation (PR14); 

11. Condition relating to unidentified contamination 
(PR14); 

12. Condition relating to on-site biodiversity requiring 
measures to be incorporated in the scheme to 
encourage wildlife including bird/bat boxes to be 
carried out as approved (GE21); 

13. Drainage condition requiring development to be 
carried out as approved (BE1 / PR5); 

14. Condition relating to site and finished floor levels 
to be carried out as approved (BE1); 

15. Condition requiring Site Waste Management Plan 
to be implemented through the course of the 
development (WM8); 

16. Submission and agreement of a sustainable 
Waste Management Plan (WM9); 

17. Condition relating to external lighting to be carried 
out as approved (PR4 / GE21); 

18. Condition requiring implementation of noise 
mitigation measures in accordance with the Noise 
Impact Assessment (PR7); and 

19. Condition requiring submission and agreement of 
details of interim landscaping and management 
for retained canal corridor (BE1). 

 
And, 

  
For application 18/00176/REM conditions relating to  
the following: 

 
1. Specifying approved plans (BE1); 
2. Condition requiring implementation of noise 

mitigation measures in accordance with the Noise 
Impact Assessment (PR7); 

3. Condition requiring implementation of the 
archaeological scheme of investigation throughout 
the course of the development (BE6); 

4. Condition requiring submission and agreement of 
validation report in relation to archaeological 
scheme of investigation (BE6); and 

5. Conditions relating to tree protection (BE1). 
 

c) That if the S106 Agreement or alternative 
arrangement was not executed within a reasonable 
period of time, authority be delegated to the 
Operational Director – Policy Planning and 
Transportation, in consultation with the Chair or Vice 

Page 5



Chair of the Committee to refuse the application. 
   
 
 

Meeting ended at 6.50 p.m. 

Page 6



REPORT TO: 
 

Development Control Committee 

DATE: 
 

6 August 2018 

REPORTING OFFICER: 
 

Strategic Director – Enterprise, Community & 
Resources 
 

SUBJECT: 
 

Planning Applications to be determined by the 
Committee 
 

WARD(S): 
 

Boroughwide 

 

Application No Proposal Location 

 
18/00083/FUL 

 
Full application for demolition of 
existing buildings and erection of 
71 dwellings with associated 
access, landscaping and ancillary 
works. 
 

 
Former Warehouse, 
Halton Court, Runcorn, 
WA7 5XS 

 
18/00142/FUL 
 

 
Full application for demolition of 
existing buildings and erection of 
39 dwellings with associated 
access, landscaping and ancillary 
works. 
 

 
Former Warehouse, 
Halton Court, Runcorn, 
WA7 5XS 

 
18/00143/FUL 

 
Full application for demolition of 
existing buildings and erection of 
11 dwellings with associated 
access, landscaping and ancillary 
works. 
 

 
Former Depot, Stonehills 
Lane, Runcorn, WA7 
5XS 

 

Page 7 Agenda Item 3



APPLICATION NO:  18/00083/FUL 

LOCATION:  Former Warehouse, Halton Court, Runcorn, WA7 5XS 

PROPOSAL: Full application for demolition of existing buildings and 
erection of 71 dwellings with associated access, 
landscaping and ancillary works 

WARD: Halton Brook 

PARISH: N/A 

AGENT(S) / 
APPLICANT(S): 

Magenta Living, Partnership Building, Hamilton St, 
Birkenhead, CH41 5AA  

DEVELOPMENT PLAN: 
 
 

National Planning Policy Framework (2012) 
Halton Unitary Development Plan (2005) 
Halton Core Strategy (2013) 

DEPARTURE  Yes  

REPRESENTATIONS: Yes 

KEY ISSUES: Access and Highway Safety 
Impact on Residential Amenity 
Loss of Employment Land 
Housing Provision  

RECOMMENDATION: Approval subject to conditions and S106 

SITE MAP 

 
 

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT 
 
This application is presented, both in this agenda and to the Development 
Management Committee, as a linked proposal as three concurrent planning 
applications; 18/00083/FUL; 18/00142/FUL and 18/00143/FUL. All three sites are 
located on land currently allocated for employment uses and all three proposals 
have similar, if not the same key issues to be assessed. The applicant for 

Page 8



18/00083/FUL – Magenta - is different from the applicant for 18/00142/FUL and 
18/00143/FUL – LHT/Onward -, however both applicants are working in 
partnership to deliver an affordable housing scheme across the three sites and the 
three applications were deposited with the Local Planning Authority with intention 
that they would be assessed as one single residential scheme. The technical 
information submitted to support all three applications refer to the site as a whole. 
The Local Planning Authority has worked with each applicant on the basis of their 
partnership arrangement and the recommendation to approve relies heavily on 
this partnership and the delivery of particular aspects of the schemes. 
 

 
 
 
2. APPLICATION SITE 
 
The Site and Surroundings 
 
The application site is located at Halton Court which is accessed from Halton 
Road. The site covers area 1.47 hectares, and is currently occupied by a 5,016m² 
warehouse. The warehouse was formerly utilised by a furniture retailer as a 
distribution depot (Use Class B8). The business ceased operations a number of 
years ago and the buildings are now in disrepair and are currently vacant. The site 
is located at Halton Court which is accessed from Halton Road. The land adjacent 
to the south is Stenhills Open Space. 

 
Planning History 
 
The site has several planning permissions relating to its commercial activities. 
Two further planning applications are relevant to this current proposal as follows. 
 
10/00397/OUT for the construction of up to 167 residential dwellings (with all 
matters reserved). The committee resolved to approve the application subject to 
conditions and a satisfactory Section 106 agreement being signed. The necessary 

Page 9



Section 106 agreement was not completed and the application was subsequently 
refused on the 31st July 2014. 
 
15/00563/OUT for the construction of up to 53 dwellings with associated 
landscaping and ancillary works was approved 4th July 2016 following members 
agreement with a viability assessment to remove the requirement for a S.106 for 
affordable housing. 

 
3. THE APPLICATION 
 
Documentation 
 
The application is full and has been submitted with the requisite planning 
application form, a site layout, house type details and supporting information 
including a design and access statement, planning policy statement, employment 
land viability report, affordable housing statement, flood risk assessment, 
ecological report, contaminated land report.  
 
4. POLICY CONTEXT 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in March 2012 to 
set out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these should be 
applied. 
 
Paragraph 196 states that the planning system is plan led. Applications for 
planning permission should be determined in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise, as per the requirements of 
legislation, but that the NPPF is a material consideration in planning decisions. 
Paragraph 197 states that in assessing and determining development proposals, 
local planning authorities should apply the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. 
 
Paragraph 14 states that this presumption in favour of sustainable development 
means that development proposals that accord with the development plan should 
be approved, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Where a 
development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of date, planning 
permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the 
policies in the NPPF; or specific policies within the NPPF indicate that 
development should be restricted. 
 
Paragraph 22 of the NPPF has particular significance, this states ‘Planning 
policies should avoid the long term protection of sites allocated for employment 
use where there is no reasonable prospect of a site being used for that purpose. 
Land allocations should be regularly reviewed. Where there is no reasonable 
prospect of a site being used for the allocated employment use, applications for 
alternative uses of land or buildings should be treated on their merits having 

Page 10



regard to market signals and the relative need for different land uses to support 
sustainable local communities’. 
 
The  site  is  allocated  as  Primarily Employment land in  the  Halton  Unitary  
Development  Plan (UDP) and the key policies, which relate to the development, 
are: -  
  
BE1 General Requirements for Development  
BE2 Quality of Design 
BE22 Boundary Walls and Fences 
GE19  Protection of Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation 
GE21  Species Protection 
TP6 Cycle Provision as Part of New Development 
TP7 Pedestrian Provision as Part of New Development 
TP12 Car Parking 
TP14 Transport Assessments 
TP15 Accessibility to New Development 
TP17 Safe Travel for All  
H3  Provision of Recreational Greenspace 
PR2 Noise Nuisance 
PR5 Water Quality 
PR6 Land Quality  
PR7 Development Near Established Pollution Sources  
PR12 Development on Land Surrounding COMAH Sites   
PR14 Contaminated Land   
PR16  Development and Flood Risk 
E3 Primarily Employment Areas 
 
Halton Core Strategy Local Plan (2013) 
 
The Core Strategy provides the overarching strategy for the future development of 
the Borough, in this particular case the following Policies are of relevance 
 
CS2  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
CS3 Housing Supply and Locational Priorities 
CS7  Infrastructure Provision 
CS12 Housing Mix 
CS13 Affordable Housing 
CS15  Sustainable Transport 
CS18  High Quality Design 
CS19   Sustainable Development and Climate Change 
CS20   Natural and Historic Environment 
CS23 Managing Pollution and Risk 
 
Joint Waste Local Plan 2013 

 
WM8 Waste Prevention and Resource Management 
WM9 Sustainable Waste Management Design and Layout for New Development 

 
 

Page 11



Supplementary Planning Documents  
 

The Council’s Design of New Residential Development Supplementary Planning 
Document and Draft Open Space Supplementary Planning Document are also of 
relevance. 
 
5. CONSULTATION AND REPRESENTATION  
  
The  application  has  been  advertised  as a departure by  means  of  a  site  
notice,  press  notice and neighbouring properties have been consulted via letter.   
 
Consultation has been undertaken internally with the following Council Officers 
responsible for: Open Spaces, Land Contamination, Environmental Health.  
 
The Local Highway Authority have been consulted. 
 
The Lead Local Flood Authority have been consulted. The FRA has demonstrated 
the use of the drainage hierarchy and concludes that the only suitable form of 
surface water drainage is to a combined sewer. This method of drainage will have 
to be with the agreement of United Utilities.  
The drainage strategy should confirm that United Utilities has approved any sewer 
connection, has agreed the SW flow rates including any onsite attenuation and 
that any on site drainage proposed for adoption by United Utilities. 
The developer should submit a further detailed drainage strategy and this will be 
the subject of a condition. 
 
Ecological advice has been provided by Merseyside Environmental Advisory 
Service (MEAS). Their comments and assessment are provided below. 
 
Ward councillors have also been consulted.  
 
The following statutory consultees, the Environment Agency, National Grid, 
Natural England and the Health and Safety Executive have been consulted via the 
PADHI+ app.  
 
The Environment Agency has been consulted they have no objection in principal 
but recommend conditions in relation to ground contamination and waste 
management. These issues are also commented on in full by the Council’s Land 
Contamination Officer and the Council’s consultants, MEAS in relation to waste 
management. 

 
United Utilities have provided comments in relation to the provision of a scheme 
for surface water discharge using the hierarchical approach. In addition their 
advice is for foul and surface water to be drained on separate systems and use of 
United Utilities connections. A drainage scheme is required by condition. 
 
The site falls within a consultation zone for a gas main along Halton Road, 
therefore the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) and National Grid have been 
consulted.  The HSE has been consulted through the PADHI + system which does 
not advise against.   

Page 12



National Grid have provided their standard response asking that the developer 
contact National Grid directly before works are started to ensure their apparatus is 
not affected by any of the works.  This response will be attached the any decision 
notice so that the applicant is aware of these comments.   
 
Three comments have been received from local residents which are paraphrased 
as follows:- 

 Will the one way road with bollards be affected? 

 If the road to Halton Court is available by car and foot it would be 
swamped. 

 Access road is not safe. 

 Not safe for existing occupiers to exit their drives on Halton Court. 

 Access is not safe. 

 Access road is inadequate for number of vehicles and construction traffic. 
 
    These are addressed within the assessment below. 

 
ASSESSMENT 
 
The application seeks permission for the demolition of existing buildings on site 
and the erection of 71 dwellings, with associated access, landscaping and 
ancillary works. 
 
Vehicular access to the proposed residential scheme will be taken from the 
existing access off Halton Court. 
 
Planning Policy 
 
The site is on land with an existing vacant industrial unit within a designated 
Primarily Employment area as identified in Policy E3 of the Halton Unitary 
Development Plan.  
 
Policy E3 states that development falling within Use Class B1, B2, B8 and Sui 
Generis industrial uses will be permitted in Primary Employment Areas. Within 
these areas employment is and will be the predominant land use in the area. 
 
The use of the site for housing on the site therefore constitutes a departure from 
Halton’s Development Plan. In accordance with the Development Management 
Procedure Order 2015 the application has therefore been advertised in the local 
press and by site notice, as a departure.   

 
Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and paragraph 
196 of the NPPF, state that planning is a plan led system.  Applications for 
planning permission should be determined in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.   
 
Furthermore, Paragraph 22 of the NPPF has particular significance, this states 
‘Planning policies should avoid the long term protection of sites allocated for 
employment use where there is no reasonable prospect of a site being used for 
that purpose. Land allocations should be regularly reviewed. Where there is no 

Page 13



reasonable prospect of a site being used for the allocated employment use, 
applications for alternative uses of land or buildings should be treated on their 
merits having regard to market signals and the relative need for different land 
uses to support sustainable local communities’. 
 
The Loss of Employment Uses 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework states that sites allocated for 
employment use should not be retained as such where there is no reasonable 
prospect of the site coming forward for this use.  Therefore, the redevelopment of 
the site for alternative uses is supported in national planning policy if the site is 
unlikely to be redevelopment for employment uses. 
 
The principal of the use of this site for residential development has been 
established with the approval of the previous outline planning application 
15/00563/OUT which remains an extant planning permission and capable of 
implementation.  
 
The applicant’s planning statement and submissions re-iterate the points made in 
the previous development’s application, in terms of loss of employment land and 
housing requirement in the borough, which have not changed in essence since 
the grant of the outline permission. 

 
The report has demonstrated that the site  has  been  marketed  adequately,  but  
despite  this, it  was  not  possible  to  engage  with  end  users;  only  limited 
interest was generated. In  light  of  the  history  of  unsuccessful  marketing  and 
the physical constraints of the site, a realistic view has to be taken on the 
likelihood of the land being brought forward  for employment or whether it would 
currently be more sustainable to release the  land for residential use.   
 
The Council’s Property Services and Inward Investment Team have assessed the  
documents submitted and consider that the conclusions arrived at in the submitted 
Employment Land Viability Report by Hitchcock Wright and Partners are 
reasonable. The site is not ideally suited to an employment use, access is poor 
and the surrounding locality is residential, which could restrict the type of uses. 
The agents have provided information on the previous marketing campaigns to 
support their view that the ‘market’ does not see this area as a location for 
commercial uses. It is also worth noting that there will be land available for 
employment uses resulting from the delivery of the New Mersey Gateway scheme 
on the other side of the canal in Astmoor, which is a more attractive location 
operationally for an employment use. 
 
In this regard it is considered that the proposal, which is a departure in terms of its 
current site allocation, complies with the requirements of the NPPF. 
 
Housing  
 
The site is identified as a Residential Allocation in the Halton Delivery and 
Allocations Local Plan. 
 

Page 14



The Council assesses 5 year land supply through the production of the Strategic  
Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA).  The last SHLAA was in 2017 
which showed a 5 year supply.   
 
The  site  was  assessed  in  the  Joint  Employment  Land  and  Premises  Study  
(JELPS)  of 2010, which concluded it should be retained for employment  
Development, however this site was the least attractive before the cut-off point. 
The marketing report submitted is more recent and relevant to the site prospects.     
 
A balanced decision therefore has to be made on the merits of current proposal.   
In these circumstances paragraph 22 of the NPPF has particular significance, and 
therefore weight as a material consideration. 

 
The land is included in the emerging Halton Delivery and Land Allocations Plan 
with a residential allocation. No weight should be attached to this given the stage 
of adoption at which this is at.   
 
In this particular case, the site has been a long standing employment designation 
for existing uses in the Unitary Development Plan, it  is  felt  that  due  to the  lack  
of  interest  in  this  land  for employment  use, despite having been marketed for 
many years,  and based on  the  evidence  put  forward  by  the  applicant,  the  
application should not be refused on the grounds of retaining the site for 
employment use any further.  Given the existing residential properties off Halton 
Court, which are not compatible with the retention of the employment use, it is 
considered that the release of the land to residential development should no 
longer be resisted on planning policy grounds and such approach complies with 
the NPPF. 
 
Design and Layout  
 
The applicant has worked with the officers of the Council and the Local Highway 
Authority to achieve a development layout which takes account of the long 
boundary wall to the south of the site; the existing residential properties to the 
east; the vacant site to the north which is at a lower level to this site; and the 
development sites to the west which are the subject of the concurrent planning 
applications; 18/00142/FUL and 18/00143/FUL. 
 
The nearest affected properties are those of 10-17 Ivy Church Mews. The 
applicant has where necessary, adapted the house type and adjusted the layout 
to ensure that the Council’s standard interface distances have been applied to 
those affected existing properties. Officers are satisfied that the current levels of 
privacy and outlook of existing occupiers are not compromised as a result of the 
development. 
 
The development layout relies on a looped link around the application site, which 
is partly within land not within land controlled by Magenta to the west. This allows 
a split in the flow of traffic around the two longer loops of the site. Whilst the layout 
is linear in part, effort has been made to vary the dwelling positions to provide 
interest and relieve the monotony. The house types are varied, though most have 

Page 15



an L-shape layout which again provides design interest and contrasting materials 
for the first floors are a positive inclusion in the street scene. 
 
Private garden provision is at an acceptable scale, in the main achieving 70sqm or 
above, where they do not, they do not fall below 50sqm. 
 
Boundary treatment is of a high quality, where visible in the wider street scene, 
this is brick wall and fence infill on side boundaries and railings to the property 
frontages.  
 
A robust landscaping scheme will be required by condition and where visible in 
the street scene, the boundary with the sub-station and former industrial site to the 
north is hedge screening. 
 
The condition of the existing boundary wall to the south of the site is addressed in 
the terms of the S.106 in order that it is reinforced and treated to ensure a high 
quality treatment. 
 
The layout as amended achieves that a scheme  of 71 dwelling  can  be  delivered  
within  the  site  that  would  comply  with  the  design  of  New  Residential    
Development    SPD  and  Policies  BE1,  BE2  and  H6  of  the  Halton UDP and 
CS18 of the Halton Core Strategy. 
 
Public Open Space 

 
The layout plan that shows there would be no onsite open space provision.  In 
accordance with Policy H3 where it is demonstrated that there is no practical 
alternative of that it would be better to do so, a contribution can be made and 
secured through a S106 agreement to improve or extend existing provision or 
provide new open space off site.   In this particular case it is considered that it 
would not be practical to provide open space requirement onsite, and that this can 
be provided for off-site and secured by way of a S106 agreement which the 
applicant has agreed to. 
 
Highway Safety  
 
The Local Highway Authority has commented as follows:- 
 
Layout: 

 The site has previous outline permission for demolition of existing buildings 
and erection of 71 dwellings therefore the change of use of the site is 
accepted.  

 The applicant has worked with the Highways Officer and Planner to develop 
the scheme and the majority of layout issues have been resolved 

 It is noted that the scheme layout as shown on the latest plans is not 
deliverable without the Western length of loop road associated with 
18/00143/FUL 

 Road widths are 5.5m throughout the development which is considered 
acceptable. 

 The traffic calming shown on the plans is considered suitable 

Page 16



 Visibility splays at junctions and driveways should be to manual for streets 
standard. 

 No details of boundary treatments  
 
Parking: 

 The proposed plots all have suitable parking provision with additional 
opportunities for on street parking 

 Side by side driveways or single driveways sited between dwellings should 
have a minimum width of 3m and driveways should be a minimum length of 
5m, ideally 6m. 

 Provision should be made to encourage the use of electric vehicles, Further 

guidance on EV charging points can be found in the document produced by 
the Liverpool City Region http://www.merseytravel.gov.uk/about-us/local-
transport-delivery/documents/e-mobility-strategy.pdf. Specific regard should 
be paid to 3.2.2 Table 3 “Min. provision of parking bays and charging points in 
new developments”. 

 
Other Issues: 

 Given the nature of the site, access to main drainage and topography we 
would recommend full details for surface water and foul drainage systems to 
be submitted prior to any decision being made. 

 Although no revised vertical alignment information to support the current 
layout has been received the layout appears to be deliverable to acceptable 
gradients. 

 Details should be submitted for approval prior to any works on site. 

 The site meets the requirements with regards to accessibility in terms of 

distance from bus stops and is therefore considered suitable. 

 A full construction management plan should be submitted prior to 
commencement of works. All construction related vehicle parking should be 
accommodated on site and deliveries to site be suitably managed. 
Wheelwash facilities and a road sweeper regime should be provided as 
appropriate, with winter management/gritting plan. Details of how 
underground services will be dealt with should also be included. 
 

Transports Statement: 

 A Transport Statement Addendum has been submitted in an attempt to 
demonstrate that an increase from 53 dwellings to 60 would cause no 
detrimental effect to the surrounding highway network. With the original 2015 
reported attached and referred to. 

 This methodology is not considered to be acceptable for a number of reasons 
namely that trics data utilised in Feb 2015 is out of date, consideration is not 
given to related applications and the potential effects on the junction of Halton 
Court and Halton Road of the combined developments. 

 We would recommend that the Statement be resubmitted to cover the 71 
dwellings revised Trics data and a sensitivity test undertaken for the wider 
development. 

Page 17

http://www.merseytravel.gov.uk/about-us/local-transport-delivery/documents/e-mobility-strategy.pdf
http://www.merseytravel.gov.uk/about-us/local-transport-delivery/documents/e-mobility-strategy.pdf


 It is noted that concurrent application 18/00143/ful shows the access road off 
Halton Court becoming a through road. This would be unsupported by the 
Highway Authority due to impact on Stonehills. 

 We recommend that the developers work together to come up with a more 
holistic approach to the site that will provide a safe, resilient and accessible 
layout for the site as a whole.  

 Note: we currently await a revised transport statement referencing the three 
conjoined planning applications 18/00083/FUL, 18/00142/FUL and  
18/00143/FUL. 
 

Recommended Conditions: 

 A construction phase management plan is required for the proposed 
development 

 Development shall not commence until a scheme of offsite highway works 
including pedestrian crossing points, footway improvements, works is 
approved by local planning authority 

 Building(s) should not be occupied until the junctions and vehicular access 
has been constructed in accordance with the approved plans. 

 A construction phase management plan is required for the proposed 
development 

 Boundary treatments, surface finishes and landscaping should all be 
conditioned. 

 No works should commence on site until level details for roads and plots are 
approved. 

 
Informative: 

 The main highway will need to be reconstructed to highway authority 
satisfaction following any drainage and utilities connections  
 

     Recommended S.106: 

 To enable the schemes to progress a S106 would be required to gain an 
undertaking of cooperation as neither of the concurrent applications are 
deliverable in full without the other. There would need to be a joined up 
approach to phasing and delivery. 

 A S106 will be required to deliver the 3 related planning applications as a 
comprehensive development. 

 
The application has received three objections from local residents in relation to 
increased car using Halton Court and highway safety impacts.   
 
This application has been reviewed by the Local Highway Authority, who has no 
objections to the principle of the development and the access from Halton Court.  
The current site in theory could be brought back into use without the need for any 
new planning permissions, and attract a significant amount of commercial and 
HGV traffic that would be much less desirable through a residential area, and 
would pose more of a conflict and potential highway safety issues. In this respect, 
the release of the land for housing would have a beneficial impact, however this 
view is further dependent on the submission of the Transport Assessment that has 

Page 18



been requested to ensure the proposal complies with Policy TP17 of the Halton 
UDP. Members will be updated on this verbally.  

 
Affordable Housing 
 
The applicant for the development is Magenta Living, the business name of Wirral 
Partnership Homes Ltd, who are a registered charity and social landlords. In 
accordance with planning policy CS13 of the Core Strategy Local Plan, there is a 
requirement for the provision of 25% affordable housing. The provision for 
affordable rent on this site is 55 dwellings, with 16 for a Shared Ownership 
scheme. This ensures that the provision will contribute positively to the affordable 
housing provision in the borough and therefore ensures that the proposal 
complies with policy CS13.  
 
Flood Risk and Drainage 
 
United Utilities have provided comments stating they have no objection to the 
proposed development  provided a  condition  is attached that no development 
approved by this permission shall commence until a scheme for the disposal of 
foul and surface waters for the entire site has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
With regards to flood risk, the  application  has  been  submitted  with  a  flood  
risk  assessment  which has been produced in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework, and Planning Practice Guidance.  
 
In accordance with the Planning Practice Guidance note the local planning 
authority has consulted the lead local flood authority on surface water drainage.  
Comments are as follows:- 
 
It is noted that calculations and commentaries have been made in the FRA for 
east and west sites, the catchment boundaries for which do not correspond with 
the current 3 no. application boundaries. Notwithstanding this, the flood risk and 
drainage considerations can be looked at across the three application sites as a 
whole. 
 
It is noted that the developer has now calculated discharge rates in line with 
Halton’s SFRA for attenuation of brownfield site runoff, which is a change from the 
observations made in previous comments by Adrian regarding greenfield runoff 
rates. This is still acceptable to the LLFA. As it has been demonstrated that 
infiltration/soakaways are not a viable option, the preferred strategy is to outfall to 
combined sewer (the least preferable option in the SUDS hierarchy). Therefore, it 
is noted in the FRA that United Utilities (UU) may seek to further limit discharge 
rates. The recent UU correspondence confirms this to be the case and a limit of 
50l/s has been set by UU (compared with 88.25+90.97 l/s calculated for 70% of 1 
in 2 yr storm event).  
 
Clarification is required as to whether the UU specified rate applies to the three 
sites as a whole. The submitted drainage strategy lacks sufficient detail to 
comment on the drainage proposals and does not appear to reflect the latest UU 

Page 19



correspondence. The applicant will be required to demonstrate that a scheme of 
attenuation can be provided which will not cause flooding of properties in the 
design (1 in 100 year plus climate change) event. It appears that the outline 
drainage proposal (attached) will be capable of being adapted to support any 
likely order of implementation of the 3 No. development sites and appropriate 
discharge rates would need to be agreed (pro rata to total runoff) for each site. 
 
The developer should therefore submit a further detailed drainage strategy for 
each site (or development as a whole dependent on phasing). This could be 
conditioned for approval prior to commencement: 
 
The drainage strategy should confirm that United Utilities has approved any sewer 
connection, has agreed the SW flow rates including any onsite attenuation and 
that any on site drainage proposed for adoption will be accepted by United 
Utilities.  
 
This will ensure that the scheme complies with Halton UDP Policy PR5, PR16, CS 
Policy CS23 and the requirements of the NPPF. 

 
Ecology and Habitats 
 
The Council’s consultant, Merseryside Environmental Advisory Services have 
commented as follows:- 
 
The applicant has submitted an ecological survey report in accordance with Local 
Plan policy CS20 (Preliminary Ecological Survey Report, Estrada Ecology, 
December 2017). The survey is acceptable and will be forwarded to Cheshire 
rECOrd via Merseyside BioBank. 
 
Given that there is a substantial building on the site which is to be removed, a bat 
survey is required and the applicant was in the process of submitting this at the 
time of writing the report. An update on this will be presented to members. 
 
The applicant, their advisers and contractors should be made aware that if any 
European protected species are found, then as a legal requirement, work must 
cease and advice must be sought from a licensed specialist. It is recommended 
that this forms an informative on the decision notice.  

 
The ecologist has pointed out that the built features or vegetation on site may 
provide nesting opportunities for breeding birds, which are protected. A condition 
is therefore recommended that no tree felling, scrub clearance, hedgerow 
removal, vegetation management, ground clearance and/or building works is to 
take place during the period 1 March to 31 August inclusive. If it is necessary to 
undertake works during the bird breeding season then all buildings, trees, scrub 
and hedgerows are to be checked first by an appropriately experienced ecologist 
to ensure no breeding birds are present. If present, details of how they will be 
protected would be required. This can be secured by a suitably worded planning 
condition. 
 

Page 20



Given the proximity to the semi-natural woodland a condition has been 
recommended for the submission of a lighting scheme. 
 
The ecologist has also recommended that further information is required from the 
applicant to assess the recreational impact on nearby designated sites which will 
be further assessed prior to determination. Members will be provided with an 
update in relation to this submission. 
 
All details as required should comply with Policy CS20 of the Halton Local Plan. 
 
Natural England have responded as follows: 
 
Recreational disturbance to internationally designated sites in the Liverpool City 
Region 
Recreational disturbance to internationally protected coastal sites in the Liverpool 
City Region (LCR) is an issue across the LCR. This pressure is a particular issue 
through in-combination effects, for example additional housing may result in 
additional recreational visits and therefore increase disturbance at the coastal 
designated sites. 
 
Assessment of this impact needs to be undertaken at the plan and project stage. 
These assessments needs to satisfy the sequential tests of the Habitat 
Regulations. This Habitat Regulations Assessment needs to be undertaken prior 
to determination to ensure the competent authority is making a sound and legal 
decision. Subject to the conclusion of the HRA appropriate mitigation and 
compensation measures may be further required to ensure no adverse effect on 
integrity of designated sites.  
 
The Visitor Management Strategy (to mitigate recreational disturbance), subject to 
finalisation and Council approval, will be an important enabling mechanism to help 
LPAs and developers across the LCR address the issue arising from additional 
housing and tourism related development, thus helping deliver Habitat 
Regulations compliance and contribute to sustainable development.  
 
Members will be updated on the progress of the applicant in this regard. 
 
Waste  
 
Policy WM8 of the Waste Local Plan (Waste Prevention) and WM9 (Layout and 
Design) would apply to this proposal.  
 
The proposed layout incorporates front to rear access for bin storage. A condition 
is recommended to minimise waste production during the construction phase 
through a waste audit or similar mechanism. In doing so WM8 is complied with. 
 
Noise 
 
The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has raised no concerns with regard to 
this development and there are no conditions recommended. 

 

Page 21



Contaminated Land 
 
The site is a former industrial unit and has been for many years, furthermore 
historic uses on the adjacent site include a Tannery, lard refinery and fuel storage 
and distribution (former Martindale fuels). 
 
The application was therefore submitted with a contaminated land report the 
Council’s Contaminated Land Officer and the Environment Agency has been 
consulted. The Environment Agency are satisfied that any further works required 
in relation to contaminated land can be dealt with through suitable conditions.  
 
The Council’s Land Contamination Officer is reviewing further information and his 
final comments are awaited. Members will be updated of these comments. 
 
6.SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS 
 
In conclusion, the  applicant  has  provided or has been requested to provide,  
sufficient  information  to demonstrate  that  the development is acceptable in 
terms of design; highway safety; ecology; contaminated land and meets the policy 
requirements and standards of the Council and that a scheme of 71 dwellings and 
the associated works, is designed to meet the aims  of  Design of New  
Residential  Development  SPD and Policies BE1, BE2 and H6 and PR14 of the 
Halton UDP and CS18 and CS20 of the Halton Core Strategy Local Plan. 

 
Paragraph 22 of the NPPF has particular significance to this application, and 
therefore has weight as a material consideration The site has been a long 
standing employment designation in the Unitary Development Plan, it  is  felt  that  
due  to the  lack  of  interest  in  this  land  for employment  use, despite having 
been marketed for many years,  and based on  the  evidence  put  forward  by  the  
applicant,  the  application should not be refused on the grounds of retaining the 
site for employment use any further.   
 
Given the existing residential properties off Halton Court, which are not compatible 
with the retention of the employment use, it is considered that the release of the 
land for residential development should no longer be resisted on planning policy 
grounds. 

 
Although  the  proposal  is  a  departure  from  Policy  E3 of  the  Halton  Unitary 
Development Plan, it is considered to be sustainable development consistent with 
the  economic,  social  and  environmental  roles  of  sustainable  development 
outlined in paragraph 7 of the NPPF.    
 
The applicant has provided sufficient evidence to demonstrate that the proposal 
can be delivered without significant adverse harm to; residential amenity; and 
employment land provision. 
It is on this basis members are asked to approve the application 
 
With regard to the outstanding submissions of a Transport Assessment and Bat 
Survey, Members are requested to provide authority under the Council’s Scheme 
of Delegation to allow the Operational Director – Policy, Planning & Transportation 

Page 22



to determine the application following the submission of further information 
relating to highway safety and ecology.  That the application be delegated to 
determine. If the application is approved this would be subject to the following 
conditions (and any additional considered necessary following consultation).  
 

7. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
A) The applicant entering into a legal agreement in relation to the payment of a 
commuted sum for offsite open space; the provision of internal highway linkages; 
demolition; land decontamination. 
 
B) Conditions relating to the following; 
 
1.  Standard 3 year condition (BE1)  
2.  Plans condition listing relevant drawings e.g. site location / red edge (BE1, BE2    

and TP17)  
3.  Prior to commencement the submission of a full drainage strategy for the site 

(BE1, PR5 and PR16)  
4.  Prior commencement full details of ground contamination risk and scheme of 

decontamination where necessary (PR14) 
5.  Prior to commencement submission of levels (BE1 and TP17)  
6.  Prior to commencement submission of materials (BE2 and CS11)  
7.  Prior to commencement details of surface water drainage (BE1 and TP17) 
8.  Conditions(s) for submission of hard and soft landscaping (BE1 and BE2)  
9.  Prior to commencement scheme of off-site highway works to be agreed and 

implementation before development begins (BE1 and TP17) 
10.  Prior to commencement submission of a scheme for the treatment of the 

north site boundary with particular regard to the north facing impact (BE2 and 
BE22) 

11.  Prior to commencement submission of a construction / traffic management  
     plan which will include wheel cleansing details (TP17)  
12. Avoidance of actively nesting birds (BE1 and GE21)  
13. Prior to commencement details of on-site biodiversity action plan for  

measures to be incorporated in the scheme to encourage wildlife (BE1 and  
GE21)  

14. Prior to commencement details of a landscape proposal and an associated  
      plan to be submitted and approved (BE1 and GE21)  
15. Prior to commencement details of boundary treatments, including Emergency    

Access details (BE22)  
16. Prior to commencement details of surfaces within dwelling curtilages (BE1 and 

TP17) 
17. Prior to commencement details of a lighting scheme (GE21) 
18. Provision of a Site Waste Management Plan (WM8) 
19. Provision of separate foul and waste water system (PR5) 
20. Provision of bins (WM9) 
21. Construction Hours (BE1) 
22. Class A and E PD removed on plots 1-10 (BE1) 
23. Windows PD removed on plots 1-10 (BE1) 

 

Page 23



C) That if the legal agreement is not executed within a reasonable period of time 
authority is delegated to the Operational Director- Policy, Planning and 
Transportation in consultation with the Chairman or Vice Chairman to refuse the 
application on the grounds that it fails to comply with UDP Policy S25 Planning 
Obligations. 
 
SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT  
 
As required by:   
 
•  Paragraph 186 – 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework;   
•  The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure)  
(England) (Amendment No.2) Order 2012; and   
•  The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) (Amendment)  
(England) Regulations 2012.   
 
This statement confirms that the local planning authority has worked proactively  
with the applicant to secure developments that improve the economic, social and  
environmental conditions of Halton. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 24



APPLICATION NO:  18/00142/FUL 

LOCATION:  Former Warehouse, Halton Court, Runcorn, WA7 5XS 

PROPOSAL: Full application for demolition of existing buildings and 
erection of 39 dwellings with associated access, 
landscaping and ancillary works 

WARD: Halton Brook 

PARISH: N/A 

AGENT(S) / 
APPLICANT(S): 

LHT/Onward, 12 Hannover Street, Liverpool L1 4AA  

DEVELOPMENT PLAN: 
 
 

National Planning Policy Framework (2012) 
Halton Unitary Development Plan (2005) 
Halton Core Strategy (2013) 

DEPARTURE  Yes  

REPRESENTATIONS: Yes 

KEY ISSUES: Access and Highway Safety 
Impact on Residential Amenity 
Loss of Employment Land 
Housing Provision  

RECOMMENDATION: Approval subject to conditions and S106 

SITE MAP 

 
 

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT 
 
This application is presented, both in this agenda and will be at the Development 
Management Committee, as a linked proposal as three concurrent planning 
applications; 18/00083/FUL; 18/00142/FUL and 18/00143/FUL. All three sites are 
located on land currently allocated for employment uses and all three proposals 
have similar, if not the same key issues to be assessed. The applicant for 
18/00083/FUL – Magenta - is different from the applicant for 18/00142/FUL and 

Page 25



18/00143/FUL – LHT/Onward -, however both applicants are working in 
partnership to deliver an affordable housing scheme across the three sites and the 
three applications were deposited with the Local Planning Authority with intention 
that they would be assessed as one single residential scheme. The technical 
information submitted to support all three applications refer to the site as a whole. 
The Local Planning Authority has worked with each applicant on the basis of their 
partnership arrangement and the recommendation to approve relies heavily on 
this partnership and the delivery of particular aspects of the schemes. 
 

 
 
 
2. APPLICATION SITE 
 
The Site and Surroundings 
 
The application site is located and currently accessed off Stonehills Lane. The site 
covers area 1.19 hectares, and is currently occupied by a disused depot buildings 
with hardstanding. The applicant has stated that these buildings are no longer in 
use. Stonehills Lane is accessed from Halton Road. The land adjacent to the 
south is Stenhills Open Space. 

 
Planning History 
 
The site has several planning permissions relating to its commercial activities. 
One further planning application relevant to this current proposal is as follows. 
 
10/00397/OUT for the construction of up to 167 residential dwellings (with all 
matters reserved). The committee resolved to approve subject to conditions and a 
satisfactory Section 106 agreement being signed. The necessary Section 106 
agreement was not completed and the application was subsequently refused on 
the 31st July 2014. 

Page 26



3. THE APPLICATION 
 
Documentation 
 
The application is full and has been submitted with the requisite planning 
application form, a site plan and indicative site layout and supporting information 
including a design and access statement, planning policy statement, employment 
land viability report, affordable housing statement, flood risk assessment, 
ecological report and contaminated land report.  
 
4. POLICY CONTEXT 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in March 2012 to 
set out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these should be 
applied. 
 
Paragraph 196 states that the planning system is plan led. Applications for 
planning permission should be determined in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise, as per the requirements of 
legislation, but that the NPPF is a material consideration in planning decisions. 
Paragraph 197 states that in assessing and determining development proposals, 
local planning authorities should apply the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. 
 
Paragraph 14 states that this presumption in favour of sustainable development 
means that development proposals that accord with the development plan should 
be approved, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Where a 
development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of date, planning 
permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the 
policies in the NPPF; or specific policies within the NPPF indicate that 
development should be restricted. 
 
Paragraph 22 of the NPPF has particular significance, this states ‘Planning 
policies should avoid the long term protection of sites allocated for employment 
use where there is no reasonable prospect of a site being used for that purpose. 
Land allocations should be regularly reviewed. Where there is no reasonable 
prospect of a site being used for the allocated employment use, applications for 
alternative uses of land or buildings should be treated on their merits having 
regard to market signals and the relative need for different land uses to support 
sustainable local communities’. 
 
The  site  is  allocated  as  Primarily Employment land in  the  Halton  Unitary  
Development  Plan (UDP) and the key policies, which relate to the development, 
are: -  
  
BE1 General Requirements for Development  
BE2 Quality of Design 

Page 27



BE22 Boundary Walls and Fences 
GE19  Protection of Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation 
GE21  Species Protection 
TP6 Cycle Provision as Part of New Development 
TP7 Pedestrian Provision as Part of New Development 
TP12 Car Parking 
TP14 Transport Assessments 
TP15 Accessibility to New Development 
TP17 Safe Travel for All 
H3  Provision of Recreational Greenspace 
PR2 Noise Nuisance 
PR5 Water Quality 
PR6 Land Quality  
PR7 Development Near Established Pollution Sources  
PR12 Development on Land Surrounding COMAH Sites   
PR14 Contaminated Land   
PR16  Development and Flood Risk 
E3 Primarily Employment Areas 
 
Halton Core Strategy Local Plan (2013) 
 
The Core Strategy provides the overarching strategy for the future development of 
the Borough, in this particular case the following Policies are of relevance 
 
CS2  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
CS3 Housing Supply and Locational Priorities 
CS7  Infrastructure Provision 
CS12 Housing Mix 
CS13 Affordable Housing 
CS15  Sustainable Transport 
CS18  High Quality Design 
CS19   Sustainable Development and Climate Change 
CS20   Natural and Historic Environment 
CS23 Managing Pollution and Risk 
 
Joint Waste Local Plan 2013 

 
WM8 Waste Prevention and Resource Management 
WM9 Sustainable Waste Management Design and Layout for New Development 
 
Supplementary Planning Documents  

 
The Council’s Design of New Residential Development Supplementary Planning 
Document and Draft Open Space Supplementary Planning Document are also of 
relevance. 
 
5. CONSULTATION AND REPRESENTATION  
  
The  application  has  been  advertised  as a departure by  means  of  a  site  
notice,  press  notice and neighbouring properties have been consulted via letter.   

Page 28



 
Consultation has been undertaken internally with the following Council Officers 
responsible for: Open Spaces, Land Contamination, Environmental Health.  
 
The Local Highway Authority have been consulted. 
 
The Lead Local Flood Authority have been consulted. The FRA has demonstrated 
the use of the drainage hierarchy and concludes that the only suitable form of 
surface water drainage is to a combined sewer. This method of drainage will have 
to be with the agreement of United Utilities.  
The drainage strategy should confirm that United Utilities has approved any sewer 
connection, has agreed the SW flow rates including any onsite attenuation and 
that any on site drainage proposed for adoption by United Utilities. 
The developer should submit a further detailed drainage strategy and this will be 
the subject of a condition. 
 
Ecological advice has been provided by Merseyside Environmental Advisory 
Service (MEAS). Their comments and assessment are provided below. 
 
Ward councillors have also been consulted.  
 
The statutory consultees, the Environment Agency, National Grid, Natural 
England and the Health and Safety Executive have been consulted via the 
PADHI+ app.  
 
The Environment Agency has been consulted they have no objection in principal 
but recommend conditions in relation to ground contamination and waste 
management. These issues are also commented on in full by the Council’s Land 
Contamination Officer and the Council’s consultants, MEAS in relation to waste 
management. 

 
United Utilities have provided comments in relation to the provision of a scheme 
for surface water discharge using the hierarchical approach. In addition their 
advice is for foul and surface water to be drained on separate systems and use of 
United Utilities connections. A drainage scheme is required by condition. 
 
The site falls within a consultation zone for a gas main along Halton Road, 
therefore the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) and National Grid have been 
consulted.  The HSE has been consulted through the PADHI + system which does 
not advise against.   
 
National Grid have provided their standard response asking that the developer 
contact National Grid directly before works are started to ensure their apparatus is 
not affected by any of the works.  This response will be attached the any decision 
notice so that the applicant is aware of these comments.   
 
Several comments have been received from local residents which are 
paraphrased as follows:- 

 Unacceptable increase in traffic on Stonehills Lane, which is too narrow 
and will have a detrimental effect. 

Page 29



 Preferable for houses on Stonehills Lane to be turned round. 

 Increase in foot traffic. 

 Halton Road junctions more congested since New Mersey Gateway 
opened and will worsen by this development. 

 Access not acceptable as main access into the site. 

 Only one space per dwelling for those on Stonehills Lane and will cause 
problems with on-street parking. 

 Access onto Halton Road for this amount of traffic will cause congestion. 

 Loss of outlook. 

 Newer properties will be out of character with existing area. 

 Invasion of privacy. 

 Should leave existing trees. 

 Loss of house value. 

 Impact of construction of scheme. 

 Birds and bats nesting in trees. 

 Previous planning permission was refused. 

 Parking for school on Stonehills Lane. 

 Does nothing to reduce carbon footprint. 

 Loss of wildlife habitat. 

 Impact on health from traffic. 

 Will limit on-street car parking for existing residents. 

 Lack of pavements on Stonehills will make it unsafe for children to go to 
school. 

 Impact on Halton Court. 
 

These are addressed within the assessment below. 
 
ASSESSMENT 
 
The application seeks permission for the demolition of existing buildings on site 
and the erection of 39 dwellings, with associated access, landscaping and 
ancillary works. 
 
Vehicular access to the proposed residential scheme will be taken from the 
existing access off Stonehills Lane for 18 of the total dwellings proposed, with the 
remaining 21 served from the access from Halton Court which is shown on the 
concurrent applications 18/00083/FUL and 18/00143/FUL, both of which have 
connectivity to this proposal. 
 
Planning Policy 
 
The site is on land with existing buildings and hardstanding within a designated 
Primarily Employment area as identified in Policy E3 of the Halton Unitary 
Development Plan.  
Policy E3 states that development falling within Use Class B1, B2, B8 and Sui 
Generis industrial uses will be permitted in Primary Employment Areas. Within 
these areas employment is and will be the predominant land use in the area. 
 

Page 30



The use of the site for housing on the site therefore constitutes a departure from 
Halton’s Development Plan. In accordance with the Development Management 
Procedure Order 2015 the application has therefore been advertised in the local 
press and by site notice, as a departure.   

 
Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and paragraph 
196 of the NPPF, state that planning is a plan led system.  Applications for 
planning permission should be determined in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.   
 
Furthermore, Paragraph 22 of the NPPF has particular significance, this states 
‘Planning policies should avoid the long term protection of sites allocated for 
employment use where there is no reasonable prospect of a site being used for 
that purpose. Land allocations should be regularly reviewed. Where there is no 
reasonable prospect of a site being used for the allocated employment use, 
applications for alternative uses of land or buildings should be treated on their 
merits having regard to market signals and the relative need for different land 
uses to support sustainable local communities’. 
 
The Loss of Employment Uses 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework states that sites allocated for 
employment use should not be retained as such where there is no reasonable 
prospect of the site coming forward for this use.  Therefore, the redevelopment of 
the site for alternative uses is supported in national planning policy if the site is 
unlikely to be redevelopment for employment uses. 
 
The principal of the use of an employment site for residential development has 
been established with the approval of the previous outline planning application 
15/00563/OUT on land adjacent, which remains an extant planning permission 
and capable of implementation.  
 
The applicant's planning statement and submissions re-iterate the points made in 
the submissions for the previous application for residential development in terms 
of loss of employment land and housing requirement in the borough, which have 
not changed in essence since the grant of the outline permission. 

 
The report has demonstrated that the site  has  been  marketed  adequately,  but  
despite  this, it  was  not  possible  to  engage  with  end  users;  only  limited 
interest was generated. In  light  of  the  history  of  unsuccessful  marketing  and 
the physical constraints of the site, a realistic view has to be taken on the 
likelihood of the land being brought forward  for employment or whether it would 
currently be more sustainable to release the  land for residential use.   
 
The Council’s Property Services and Inward Investment Team have assessed the  
documents submitted and consider that the conclusions arrived at in the submitted 
Employment Land Viability Report by Hitchcock Wright and Partners are 
reasonable. The site is not ideally suited to employment use, access is poor and 
the surrounding locality is residential, which could restrict the type of uses. The 
agents have provided information on the previous marketing campaigns to support 

Page 31



their view that the ‘market’ does not see this area as a location for commercial 
uses. It is also worth noting that there will be land available for employment uses 
resulting from the delivery of the New Mersey Gateway scheme on the other side 
of the canal in Astmoor which is a more attractive location operationally for an 
employment use. 
 
In this regard it is considered that the proposal, which is a departure in terms of its 
current site allocation, complies with the requirements of the NPPF. 
 
Housing  
 
The site is identified as a Residential Allocation in the Halton Delivery and 
Allocations Local Plan. 
 
The Council assesses 5 year land supply through the production of the Strategic  
Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA).  The last SHLAA was in 2017 
which showed a 5 year supply.   
 
The  site  was  assessed  in  the  Joint  Employment  Land  and  Premises  Study  
(JELPS)  of 2010, which concluded it should be retained for employment  
Development, however this site was the least attractive before the cut-off point. 
the marketing report submitted is more recent and relevant to the site prospects.     
 
A balanced decision therefore has to be made on the merits of current proposal.   
In these circumstances paragraph 22 of the NPPF has particular significance, and 
therefore weight as a material consideration. 
 
The land is included in the emerging Halton Delivery and Land Allocations Plan 
with a residential allocation. No weight should be attached to this given the stage 
of adoption at which this is at.  
 
In this particular case, the site has been a long standing employment designation 
for existing uses in the Unitary Development Plan, it  is  felt  that  due  to the  lack  
of  interest  in  this  land  for employment  use, despite having been marketed for 
many years,  and based on  the  evidence  put  forward  by  the  applicant,  the  
application should not be refused on the grounds of retaining the site for 
employment use any further.  Given the existing residential properties off Halton 
Court, which are not compatible with the retention of the employment use, it is 
considered that the release of the land to residential development should no 
longer be resisted on planning policy grounds and such approach complies with 
the NPPF. 
 
Design and Layout  
 
The applicant has worked with the officers of the Council and the Local Highway 
Authority to achieve a development layout which takes account of the long 
boundary wall to the south of the site; the existing residential properties to the 
west; the vacant site to the north which is at a lower level to this site; and the 
development sites to the east which are the subject of the concurrent planning 
applications 18/00083/FUL and 18/00143/FUL. 

Page 32



 
The nearest affected properties are those on Stonehills Lane and Stonehills Court 
and in particular those facing the development site and access at 32 – 46 (evens 
only) Stonehills Lane. On the advice of Council officers, the applicant has 
achieved the 21m interface distance between habitable room windows. The 
interface distance is usually interpreted as a face to face measurement from the 
centre of the window. Where house-types have not met it originally they have 
been altered internally to ensure that the affecting first floor windows are relocated 
on the dwelling and kitchen windows at ground floor. Where a two and a half 
storey house type is introduced on plots 116-119, the dormers are positioned to 
the rear and all interface requirements are met where they affect the existing 
occupiers on Stonehills Lane. 
 
The development layout relies on an access road which is restricted to allow only 
12 units to be served off it, thus creating a small cul-de-sac. The layout will 
provide an emergency link to the rest of the site with the remaining 29 units 
served from the looped link around the adjacent site which is the subject of 
applications 18/00083/FUL and 18/00143/FUL. As much of this land and 
particularly the access is controlled by another land owner and applicant to the 
east, a S.106 is proposed to ensure the this part of the site will be able to deliver 
the 29 units in isolation should circumstances require it. The Local Highway 
Authority comments deal with this in full.  
 
There are 8 frontage units on Stonehills Lane – one of which, plot 114, has its 
parking on the new access road. The house types are varied and include 12 two 
and a half storey properties, which utilise the roof space.  These inevitably 
introduce a more modern appearance and street scene. The existing properties 
on Stonehills Lane are a mixture of pre-20th Century terraced cottage (32-38 
Stonehills Lane) and more modern 1930’s-post war semi-detached, all of which 
are two storey. However, it should be noted that the site is not within a 
conservation area and none of the existing buildings are listed. Whilst the 
proposed scheme does introduce a different dwelling style again, they are similar 
in that they are semi-detached and have private rear gardens, but differ in their 
use of materials and the provision of off-road car parking. 
 
Private garden provision across the site is at an acceptable scale, in the main 
achieving 70sqm or above, where they do not, they do not fall below 50sqm. 
 
Boundary treatment is of a high quality, where visible in the wider street scene, 
particularly at the access from Stonehills Lane with a brick wall and fence infill on 
side boundaries and railings to the property frontages. Landscaping is provided on 
property frontages throughout the site and will be required through the submission 
of a landscaping scheme. 

 
The condition of the existing boundary wall to the south of the site is addressed in 
the terms of the S.106 in order that it is reinforced and treated to ensure a high 
quality treatment. 
 
The Council’s Open Spaces Offer has commented as follows:- 

Page 33



“There are no trees afforded Statutory Protection at this location and the site is not 
situated within a Conservation Area.  
 
There are a number of young/semi mature trees at the site that appear to be at 
risk of being lost. Most of these trees are natural colonisation, do not have good 
form and are not worthy of statutory protection. 
There appears to be adequate replacement planting contained within the 
proposed development but it is not clear which species of trees, or how many 
exactly, are to be planted”. 
 
A landscaping scheme will be required by condition. 
 
Cheshire Constabulary’s Designing Out Crime Officer made comments on the 
original submitted scheme which showed an unrestricted through road through 
both this and the adjacent sites. Concerns were raised as which are paraphrased 
as follows:- 

 Details needed of boundaries to the south and north of the site – concern 
regarding natural surveillance of both areas. 

 Details of lighting scheme. 

 The through-road permeability, whilst good for residents means easier 
access for criminals. 

 Applicant should consider Secured by Design status which is reference 
only for doors. 

 
Cheshire Constabulary have been requested to review the amended version of 
the scheme and asked for comments. These comments will be reported to 
members. 
 
Whilst objections from residents included many of the areas addressed in this 
section, i.e. loss of privacy; loss of outlook; development out of character; tree 
loss, where these matters have been raised with the applicant there has been a 
positive response and it is considered that the layout as amended, achieves a 
scheme of 39 dwellings which can be delivered to comply  with  the  design  of  
New  Residential    Development    SPD  and  Policies  BE1,  BE2  and  H6  of  
the  Halton UDP and CS18 of the Halton Core Strategy and the NPPF. 
 
Public Open Space 

 
The layout plan that shows there would be no onsite open space provision.  In 
accordance with Policy H3 where it is demonstrated that there is no practical 
alternative of that it would be better to do so, a contribution can be made and 
secured through a S106 agreement to improve or extend existing provision or 
provide new open space off site.   In this particular case it is considered that it 
would not be practical to provide the open space requirement onsite, and can be 
provided for off-site and secured by way of a S106 agreement which the applicant 
has agreed to. 

 
Highway Safety  
 
The Local Highway Authority have commented as follows: 

Page 34



 
Layout: 
• The applicant has worked with the Highways Officer and Planner to develop 

the scheme and the majority of layout issues have been resolved 
• It is noted that the part of the scheme layout as shown on the latest plans is 

not  deliverable without the Western length of loop road associated with 
18/00083/FUL and 18/00143/FUL 

• Road widths are 5.5m throughout the development which is considered 
acceptable. 

• The traffic calming shown on the plans is considered suitable 
• Visibility splays at junctions and driveways should be to manual for streets 

standard. 
• No details of boundary treatments  
• The principle of taking limited access off Stonehills Lane at the location shown 

is suitable as works are proposed to widen the existing carriageway and to 
provide a 2m North/ South footway to the frontage. 

• The proposed emergency link to the adjoined site is considered to be 
appropriate. 

 
Parking: 
• The proposed plots all have suitable parking provision with additional 

opportunities for on street parking 
• Side by side driveways or single driveways sited between dwellings should 

have a minimum width of 3m and driveways should be a minimum length of 
5m, ideally 6m. 

• Provision should be made to encourage the use of electric vehicles, Further 
guidance on EV charging points can be found in the document produced by 
the Liverpool City Region http://www.merseytravel.gov.uk/about-us/local-
transport-delivery/documents/e-mobility-strategy.pdf. Specific regard should 
be paid to 3.2.2 Table 3 “Min. provision of parking bays and charging points in 
new developments”. 

 
Other Issues: 

 Given the nature of the site, access to main drainage and topography we 
would recommend full details for surface water and foul drainage systems to 
be submitted prior to any decision being made. 

 Although no revised vertical alignment information to support the current 
layout has been received the layout appears to be deliverable to acceptable 
gradients. 

 Details should be submitted for approval prior to any works on site. 

 The site meets the requirements with regards to accessibility in terms of 

distance from bus stops and is therefore considered suitable. 

 A full construction management plan should be submitted prior to 
commencement of works. All construction related vehicle parking should be 
accommodated on site and deliveries to site be suitably managed. 
Wheelwash facilities and a road sweeper regime should be provided as 
appropriate, with winter management/gritting plan. Details of how 
underground services will be dealt with should also be included. 
 

Page 35



Transport Assessment: 

 Although a transport Statement has been submitted to accompany the 
application we question some of the methods used to compile the report.  

 The data used to demonstrate movements for the extant use are agreed and 
considered suitable. 

 To generate trips for the proposed development however figures have been 
extracted from a 2015 report submitted to support a previous outline 
application which we consider to be out of date. 

 Consideration has not given to the potential effects of the combined 
development on the junctions with Halton Road. 

 We would recommend that the Statement be resubmitted to cover all 3 
applications using revised Trics data and that a sensitivity test undertaken for 
the wider development. 

 We recommend that the developers work together to come up with a more 
holistic approach to the site that will provide a safe, resilient and accessible 
layout for the site as a whole.  

 Note: we currently await a revised transport statement referencing the three 
conjoined planning applications 18/00083/FUL, 18/00142/FUL and  
18/00143/FUL 
 

Recommended Conditions:   

 A construction phase management plan is required for the proposed 
development 

 Development shall not commence until a scheme of offsite highway works 
including pedestrian crossing points, footway improvements works is 
approved by local planning authority 

 A scheme of offsite highway works would be required to connect footways to 
the North and South of the site on Stonehills Lane with a length of new 2m 
footway dedicated as highway to the frontage. 

 Boundary treatments and landscaping should all be conditioned. 

 No works should commence on site until level details for roads and plots are 
approved. 
 

      Recommended S106:  

 To enable the schemes to progress a S106 would be required to gain an 
undertaking of cooperation as any of the concurrent applications are 
deliverable in full without the other. There would need to be a joined up 
approach to phasing and delivery. 

 A S106 will be required to deliver the 3 related planning applications as a 
comprehensive development. 
 

The application has received three objections from local residents in relation to 
increased car using Halton Court and highway safety impacts.   
 
This application has been reviewed by the Local Highway Authority, who has no 
objections to the principle of the development and the access from Halton Court.  
The current site in theory could be brought back into use without the need for any 

Page 36



new planning permissions, and attract a significant amount of commercial and 
HGV traffic that would be much less desirable through a residential area, and 
would pose more of a conflict and potential highway safety issues. In this respect, 
the release of the land for housing would have a beneficial impact, however this 
view is further dependent on the submission of the Transport Assessment that has 
been requested to ensure the proposal complies with Policy TP17 of the Halton 
UDP. Members will be updated on this verbally.  

 
Affordable Housing 
 
The applicant for the development is LHT/Onward, who are a registered charity 
and social landlords. In accordance with planning policy CS13 of the Core 
Strategy Local Plan, there is a requirement for the provision of 25% affordable 
housing. This proposal of 39 dwellings offers 17 dwellings for affordable rent and 
22 as Shared Ownership. The meets the requirement needed to comply with 
CS13 and it is considered that sufficient affordable housing is provided and will 
contribute positively to the provision within the borough.  
 
Flood Risk and Drainage 
 
United Utilities have provided comments stating they have no objection to the 
proposed development  provided a  condition  is attached that no development 
approved by this permission shall commence until a scheme for the disposal of 
foul and surface waters for the entire site has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
With regards to flood risk, the  application  has  been  submitted  with  a  flood  
risk  assessment  which has been produced in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework, and Planning Practice Guidance.  
 
In accordance with the Planning Practice Guidance note the local planning 
authority has consulted the lead local flood authority on surface water drainage.   
Comments are as follows:- 
 
It is noted that calculations and commentaries have been made in the FRA for 
east and west sites, the catchment boundaries for which do not correspond with 
the current 3 no. application boundaries. Notwithstanding this, the flood risk and 
drainage considerations can be looked at across the three application sites as a 
whole. 
 
It is noted that the developer has now calculated discharge rates in line with 
Halton’s SFRA for attenuation of brownfield site runoff, which is a change from the 
observations made in previous comments by Adrian regarding greenfield runoff 
rates. This is still acceptable to the LLFA. As it has been demonstrated that 
infiltration/soakaways are not a viable option, the preferred strategy is to outfall to 
combined sewer (the least preferable option in the SUDS hierarchy). Therefore, it 
is noted in the FRA that United Utilities (UU) may seek to further limit discharge 
rates. The recent UU correspondence confirms this to be the case and a limit of 
50l/s has been set by UU (compared with 88.25+90.97 l/s calculated for 70% of 1 
in 2 yr storm event).  

Page 37



 
Clarification is required as to whether the UU specified rate applies to the three 
sites as a whole. The submitted drainage strategy lacks sufficient detail to 
comment on the drainage proposals and does not appear to reflect the latest UU 
correspondence. The applicant will be required to demonstrate that a scheme of 
attenuation can be provided which will not cause flooding of properties in the 
design (1 in 100 year plus climate change) event. It appears that the outline 
drainage proposal (attached) will be capable of being adapted to support any 
likely order of implementation of the 3 No. development sites and appropriate 
discharge rates would need to be agreed (pro rata to total runoff) for each site. 
 
The developer should therefore submit a further detailed drainage strategy for 
each site (or development as a whole dependent on phasing). This could be 
conditioned for approval prior to commencement: 
 
The drainage strategy should confirm that United Utilities has approved any sewer 
connection, has agreed the SW flow rates including any onsite attenuation and 
that any on site drainage proposed for adoption will be accepted by United 
Utilities.  
 
This will ensure that the scheme complies with Halton UDP Policy PR5, PR16, CS 
Policy CS23 and the requirements of the NPPF. 

 
Ecology and Habitats 
 
The Council’s consultant, Merseyside Environmental Advisory Services have 
commented as follows:- 
 
The applicant has submitted an ecological survey report in accordance with Local 
Plan policy CS20 (Preliminary Ecological Survey Report, Estrada Ecology, 
December 2017). The survey is acceptable and will be forwarded to Cheshire 
rECOrd via Merseyside BioBank. 
 
Given that there is a substantial building on the site which is to be removed, a bat 
survey is required and the applicant was in the process of submitting this at the 
time of writing the report. An update on this will be presented to members. 
 
The applicant, their advisers and contractors should be made aware that if any 
European protected species are found, then as a legal requirement, work must 
cease and advice must be sought from a licensed specialist. It is recommended 
that this forms an informative on the decision notice.  

 
The ecologist has pointed out that the built features or vegetation on site may 
provide nesting opportunities for breeding birds, which are protected. A condition 
is therefore recommended that no tree felling, scrub clearance, hedgerow 
removal, vegetation management, ground clearance and/or building works is to 
take place during the period 1 March to 31 August inclusive. If it is necessary to 
undertake works during the bird breeding season then all buildings, trees, scrub 
and hedgerows are to be checked first by an appropriately experienced ecologist 
to ensure no breeding birds are present. If present, details of how they will be 

Page 38



protected would be required. This can be secured by a suitably worded planning 
condition. 
 
Given the proximity to the semi-natural woodland a condition has been 
recommended for the submission of a lighting scheme. 
 
The ecologist has also recommended that further information is required from the 
applicant to assess the recreational impact on nearby designated sites which will 
be further assessed prior to determination. Members will be provided with an 
update in relation to this submission. 
 
All details as required should comply with Policy CS20 of the Halton Local Plan. 
 

    Noise 
 

The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has raised no concerns with regard to 
this development and there are no conditions recommended. 

 
Waste  
 
Policy WM8 of the Waste Local Plan (Waste Prevention) and WM9 (Layout and 
Design) would apply to this proposal.  
 
The proposed layout incorporates front to rear access for bin storage. A condition 
is recommended to minimise waste production during the construction phase 
through a waste audit or similar mechanism. In doing so WM8 is complied with. 

 
Contaminated Land 
 
The site has been in a commercial use for many years, furthermore historic uses 
on the adjacent site include a Tannery, lard refinery and fuel storage and 
distribution (former Martindale fuels). 

 
The application was therefore submitted with a contaminated land report the 
Council’s Contaminated Land Officer and the Environment Agency has been 
consulted. The Environment Agency are satisfied that any further works required 
in relation to contaminated land can be dealt with through suitable conditions.  
 
The Council’s Land Contamination Officer is reviewing further information and his 
final comments are awaited. Members will be updated of these comments. 
 
6.SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS 
 
In conclusion, the  applicant  has  provided or has been requested to provide,  
sufficient  information  to demonstrate  that  the development is acceptable in 
terms of design; highway safety; ecology; contaminated land; drainage and meets 
the policy requirements and standards of the Council and that a scheme of 39 
dwellings and the associated works, has been designed to meet the aims  of the 
Design of New Residential Development SPD and Policies BE1, BE2 and H6 and 

Page 39



PR14 of the Halton UDP and CS18 and CS20 of the Halton Core Strategy Local 
Plan. 

 
Paragraph 22 of the NPPF has particular significance to this application, and 
therefore has weight as a material consideration The site has been a long 
standing employment designation in the Unitary Development Plan, it  is  felt  that  
due  to the  lack  of  interest  in  this  land  for employment  use, despite having 
been marketed for many years,  and based on  the  evidence  put  forward  by  the  
applicant,  the  application should not be refused on the grounds of retaining the 
site for employment use any further.   
 
Given the existing residential properties off Stonehills Lane, which are not 
compatible with the retention of the employment use, it is considered that the 
release of the land for residential development should no longer be resisted on 
planning policy grounds. 

 
Although  the  proposal  is  a  departure  from  Policy  E3 of  the  Halton  Unitary 
Development Plan, it is considered to be sustainable development consistent with 
the  economic,  social  and  environmental  roles  of  sustainable  development 
outlined in paragraph 7 of the NPPF.    
  
It is on this basis members are asked to approve the application. 
 
With regard to the outstanding submissions of a Transport Assessment and Bat 
Survey, Members are requested to provide authority under the Council’s Scheme 
of Delegation to allow the Operational Director – Policy, Planning & Transportation 
to determine the application following the submission of further information 
relating to highway safety and ecology. That the application be delegated to 
determine. If the application is approved this would be subject to the following 
conditions (and any additional considered necessary following consultation).  
 

7. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
A) The applicant entering into a legal agreement in relation to the payment of a 
commuted sum for offsite open space; the provision of internal highway linkages; 
land decontamination. 
 
B) Conditions relating to the following; 
 
1.  Standard 3 year condition (BE1)  
2.  Plans condition listing relevant drawings e.g. site location / red edge (BE1, BE2    

and TP17)  
3.  Prior to commencement the submission of a full drainage strategy for the site 

(BE1, PR5 and PR16)  
4.  Prior commencement full details of ground contamination risk and scheme of 

decontamination where necessary (PR14) 
5.  Prior to commencement submission of levels (BE1 and TP17) 
6.  Prior to commencement details of surface water drainage details (BE1 and  

TP17)  
7.  Prior to commencement submission of materials (BE1 and CS11)  

Page 40



8. Prior to commencement scheme of off-site highway works to be agreed and 
implementation before development begins ( BE1 and TP17) 

9. Conditions(s) for submission of hard and soft landscaping (BE1 and BE2) 
10.  Prior to commencement submission of a scheme for the treatment of the north  

site boundary with particular regard to the north facing impact (BE2 and BE22) 
Prior to commencement submission of a construction / traffic management  

     plan which will include wheel cleansing details (TP17)  
11 . Avoidance of actively nesting birds (BE1 and GE21)  
12. Prior to commencement details of on-site biodiversity action plan for  

measures to be incorporated in the scheme to encourage wildlife (BE1 and  
GE21)  

13. Prior to commencement details of a landscape proposal and an associated  
      plan to be submitted and approved (BE1 and GE21)  
14. Prior to commencement details of boundary treatments, including Emergency    

Access details (BE22)  
15. Prior to commencement details of surfaces within dwelling curtilages (BE1 and 

TP17) 
16. Prior to commencement details of a lighting scheme (GE21) 
17. Provision of a Site Waste Management Plan (WM8) 
18. Provision of separate foul and waste water system (PR5) 
19. Provision of bins (WM9) 
20. Construction Hours (BE1) 
21. Windows PD removed on plots 114-121 (BE1) 
22. Class C removed on plots 114-121 (BE1) 

 
C) That if the legal agreement is not executed within a reasonable period of time 
authority is delegated to the Operational Director- Policy, Planning and 
Transportation in consultation with the Chairman or Vice Chairman to refuse the 
application on the grounds that it fails to comply with UDP Policy S25 Planning 
Obligations. 
 
SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT  
 
As required by:   
 
•  Paragraph 186 – 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework;   
•  The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure)  
(England) (Amendment No.2) Order 2012; and   
•  The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) (Amendment)  
(England) Regulations 2012.   
 
This statement confirms that the local planning authority has worked proactively  
with the applicant to secure developments that improve the economic, social and  
environmental conditions of Halton. 
 

Page 41



APPLICATION NO:  18/00143/FUL 

LOCATION:  Former Depot, Stonehills Lane, Runcorn, WA7 5XS 

PROPOSAL: Full application for demolition of existing buildings and 
erection of 11 dwellings with associated access, 
landscaping and ancillary works 

WARD: Halton Brook 

PARISH: N/A 

AGENT(S) / 
APPLICANT(S): 

LHT/Onward, 12 Hannover Street, Liverpool L1 4AA 

DEVELOPMENT PLAN: 
 
 

National Planning Policy Framework (2012) 
Halton Unitary Development Plan (2005) 
Halton Core Strategy (2013) 

DEPARTURE  Yes  

REPRESENTATIONS: No 

KEY ISSUES: Access and Highway Safety 
Impact on Residential Amenity 
Loss of Employment Land 
Housing Provision  

RECOMMENDATION: Approval subject to conditions and S106 

SITE MAP 

 
 
 
1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT 
 
This application is presented, both in this agenda and to the Development 
Management Committee, as a linked proposal as three concurrent planning 
applications; 18/00083/FUL; 18/00142/FUL and 18/00143/FUL. All three sites are 
located on land currently allocated for employment uses and all three proposals 
have similar, if not the same key issues to be assessed. The applicant for 

Page 42



18/00083/FUL – Magenta - is different from the applicant for 18/00142/FUL and 
18/00143/FUL – LHT/Onward -, however both applicants are working in 
partnership to deliver an affordable housing scheme across the three sites and the 
three applications were deposited with the Local Planning Authority with intention 
that they would be assessed as one single residential scheme. The technical 
information submitted to support all three applications refer to the site as a whole. 
The Local Planning Authority has worked with each applicant on the basis of their 
partnership arrangement and the recommendation to approve relies heavily on 
this partnership and the delivery of particular aspects of the schemes. 
 

 
 
 

2. APPLICATION SITE 
 
The Site and Surroundings 
 
The application site is located at Stonehills Lane, off Halton Road and is accessed 
from Stonehills Lane. The site covers area .26 hectares, and is currently occupied 
by a depot building and associated hardstanding.  

 
Planning History 
 
The site has several planning permissions relating to its commercial activities. 
One further planning application relevant to this current proposal is as follows. 
 
10/00397/OUT for the construction of up to 167 residential dwellings (with all 
matters reserved). The committee resolved to approve subject to conditions and  
Section 106 agreement being signed. The necessary Section 106 agreement was 

Page 43



not completed and the application was subsequently refused on the 31st July 
2014. 

 
3. THE APPLICATION 
 
Documentation 
 
The application is full and has been submitted with the requisite planning 
application form, a site plan and site layout, house types details and supporting 
information including a design and access statement, planning policy statement, 
employment land viability report, affordable housing statement, flood risk 
assessment, ecological report and contaminated land report.  
 
4. POLICY CONTEXT 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in March 2012 to 
set out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these should be 
applied. 
 
Paragraph 196 states that the planning system is plan led. Applications for 
planning permission should be determined in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise, as per the requirements of 
legislation, but that the NPPF is a material consideration in planning decisions. 
Paragraph 197 states that in assessing and determining development proposals, 
local planning authorities should apply the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. 
 
Paragraph 14 states that this presumption in favour of sustainable development 
means that development proposals that accord with the development plan should 
be approved, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Where a 
development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of date, planning 
permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the 
policies in the NPPF; or specific policies within the NPPF indicate that 
development should be restricted. 
 
Paragraph 22 of the NPPF has particular significance, this states ‘Planning 
policies should avoid the long term protection of sites allocated for employment 
use where there is no reasonable prospect of a site being used for that purpose. 
Land allocations should be regularly reviewed. Where there is no reasonable 
prospect of a site being used for the allocated employment use, applications for 
alternative uses of land or buildings should be treated on their merits having 
regard to market signals and the relative need for different land uses to support 
sustainable local communities’. 
 
The  site  is  allocated  as  Primarily Employment land in  the  Halton  Unitary  
Development  Plan (UDP) and the key policies, which relate to the development, 
are: -  

Page 44



BE1 General Requirements for Development  
BE2 Quality of Design 
BE22 Boundary Walls and Fences 
GE19 Protection of Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation 
GE21 Species Protection 
TP6 Cycle Provision as Part of New Development 
TP7 Pedestrian Provision as Part of New Development 
TP12 Car Parking 
TP14 Transport Assessments 
TP15 Accessibility to New Development 
TP17 Safe Travel for All 
H3  Provision of Recreational Greenspace 
PR2 Noise Nuisance 
PR5 Water Quality 
PR6 Land Quality  
PR7 Development Near Established Pollution Sources  
PR12 Development on Land Surrounding COMAH Sites   
PR14 Contaminated Land   
PR16  Development and Flood Risk 
E3 Primarily Employment Areas 
 
Halton Core Strategy Local Plan (2013) 
 
The Core Strategy provides the overarching strategy for the future development of 
the Borough, in this particular case the following Policies are of relevance 
 
CS2  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
CS3 Housing Supply and Locational Priorities 
CS7  Infrastructure Provision 
CS12 Housing Mix 
CS13 Affordable Housing 
CS15  Sustainable Transport 
CS18  High Quality Design 
CS19   Sustainable Development and Climate Change 
CS20   Natural and Historic Environment 
CS23 Managing Pollution and Risk 
 
Joint Waste Local Plan 2013 

 
WM8 Waste Prevention and Resource Management 
WM9 Sustainable Waste Management Design and Layout for New Development 
 
Supplementary Planning Documents  

 
The Council’s Design of New Residential Development Supplementary Planning 
Document and Draft Open Space Supplementary Planning Document are also of 
relevance. 
 
 
 

Page 45



5. CONSULTATION AND REPRESENTATION  
  
The  application  has  been  advertised  as a departure by  means  of  a  site  
notice,  press  notice and neighbouring properties have been consulted via letter.   
 
Consultation has been undertaken internally with the following Council Officers 
responsible for: Open Spaces, Land Contamination, Environmental Health.  
 
The Local Highway Authority have been consulted. 
 
The Lead Local Flood Authority have been consulted. The FRA has demonstrated 
the use of the drainage hierarchy and concludes that the only suitable form of 
surface water drainage is to a combined sewer. This method of drainage will have 
to be with the agreement of United Utilities.  
The drainage strategy should confirm that United Utilities has approved any sewer 
connection, has agreed the SW flow rates including any onsite attenuation and 
that any on site drainage proposed for adoption by United Utilities. 
The developer should submit a further detailed drainage strategy and this will be 
the subject of a condition. 
 
Ecological advice has been provided by Merseyside Environmental Advisory 
Service (MEAS). Their comments and assessment are provided below. 
 
Natural England comments are below. 
 
Ward councillors have also been consulted.  
 
The following statutory consultees, the Environment Agency, National Grid, 
Natural England and the Health and Safety Executive have been consulted via the 
PADHI+ app.  
 
The Environment Agency has been consulted they have no objection in principal 
but recommend conditions in relation to ground contamination and waste 
management. These issues are also commented on in full by the Council’s Land 
Contamination Officer and the Council’s consultants, MEAS in relation to waste 
management. 

 
United Utilities have provided comments in relation to the provision of a scheme 
for surface water discharge using the hierarchical approach. In addition their 
advice is for foul and surface water to be drained on separate systems and use of 
United Utilities connections. A drainage scheme is required by condition. 
 
The site falls within a consultation zone for a gas main along Halton Road, 
therefore the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) and National Grid have been 
consulted.  The HSE has been consulted through the PADHI + system which does 
not advise against.   
 
National Grid have provided their standard response asking that the developer 
contact National Grid directly before works are started to ensure their apparatus is 

Page 46



not affected by any of the works.  This response will be attached the any decision 
notice so that the applicant is aware of these comments.   
 
No comments have been received as a result of the public consultation. 
 
ASSESSMENT 
 
The Application seeks permission for the demolition of existing buildings on site 
and the erection of 11 dwellings, with associated landscaping and ancillary works. 
 
Vehicular access to the proposed residential scheme will be taken from the 
existing access off Halton Court and is connected to the concurrent proposal on 
planning application 18/00083/ful. 
 
Planning Policy 
 
The site is on land with existing buildings and hardstanding within a designated 
Primarily Employment area as identified in Policy E3 of the Halton Unitary 
Development Plan.  
 
Policy E3 states that development falling within Use Class B1, B2, B8 and Sui 
Generis industrial uses will be permitted in Primary Employment Areas. Within 
these areas employment is and will be the predominant land use in the area. 
 
The use of the site for housing on the site therefore constitutes a departure from 
Haltons’ Development Plan. In accordance with the Development Management 
Procedure Order 2015 the application has therefore been advertised in the local 
press and by site notice, as a departure.   

 
Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and paragraph 
196 of the NPPF, state that planning is a plan led system.  Applications for 
planning permission should be determined in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.   
 
Furthermore, Paragraph 22 of the NPPF has particular significance, this states 
‘Planning policies should avoid the long term protection of sites allocated for 
employment use where there is no reasonable prospect of a site being used for 
that purpose. Land allocations should be regularly reviewed. Where there is no 
reasonable prospect of a site being used for the allocated employment use, 
applications for alternative uses of land or buildings should be treated on their 
merits having regard to market signals and the relative need for different land 
uses to support sustainable local communities’. 
 
The Loss of Employment Uses 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework states that sites allocated for 
employment use should not be retained as such where there is no reasonable 
prospect of the site coming forward for this use.  Therefore, the redevelopment of 
the site for alternative uses is supported in national planning policy if the site is 
unlikely to be redevelopment for employment uses. 

Page 47



 
The principal of the use of this site for residential development has been 
established with the approval of the previous outline planning application 
15/00563/OUT which remains an extant planning permission and capable of 
implementation.  
 
The applicant’s planning statement and submissions re-iterate the points made in 
the supporting information in the previous application for residential development 
in terms of loss of employment land and housing requirement in the borough, 
which have not changed in essence since the grant of the outline permission. 

 
The report has demonstrated that the site  has  been  marketed  adequately,  but  
despite  this, it  was  not  possible  to  engage  with  end  users;  only  limited 
interest was generated. In  light  of  the  history  of  unsuccessful  marketing  and 
the physical constraints of the site, a realistic view has to be taken on the 
likelihood of the land being brought forward  for employment or whether it would 
currently be more sustainable to release the  land for residential use.   
 
The Council’s Property Services and Inward Investment Team have assessed the 
documents submitted and consider that the conclusions arrived at in the submitted 
Employment Land Viability Report by Hitchcock Wright and Partners are 
reasonable. The site is not ideally suited to an employment use, access is poor 
and the surrounding locality is residential, which could restrict the type of uses. 
The agents have provided information on the previous marketing campaigns to 
support their view that the ‘market’ does not see this area as a location for 
commercial uses. It is also worth noting that there will be land available for 
employment uses resulting from the delivery of the New Mersey Gateway scheme 
on the other side of the canal in Astmoor, which is a more attractive location 
operationally for an employment use. 
 
In this regard it is considered that the proposal, which is a departure in terms of its 
current site allocation, complies with the requirements of the NPPF. 
 
Housing  
 
The site is identified as a Residential Allocation in the Halton Delivery and 
Allocations Local Plan. 
 
The Council assesses 5 year land supply through the production of the Strategic  
Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA).  The last SHLAA was in 2017 
which showed a 5 year supply.   
 
The  site  was  assessed  in  the  Joint  Employment  Land  and  Premises  Study  
(JELPS)  of 2010, which concluded it should be retained for employment  
Development, however this site was the least attractive before the cut-off point. 
The marketing report submitted is more recent and relevant to the site prospects.     
 
A balanced decision therefore has to be made on the merits of current proposal.   
In these circumstances paragraph 22 of the NPPF has particular significance, and 
therefore weight as a material consideration. 

Page 48



The land is included in the emerging Halton Delivery and Land Allocations Plan 
with a residential allocation. No weight should be attached to this given the stage 
of adoption at which this it att.  
 
In this particular case, the site has been a long standing employment designation 
for existing uses in the Unitary Development Plan, it  is  felt  that  due  to the  lack  
of  interest  in  this  land  for employment  use, despite having been marketed for 
many years,  and based on  the  evidence  put  forward  by  the  applicant,  the  
application should not be refused on the grounds of retaining the site for 
employment use any further.  Given the existing residential properties off Halton 
Court, which are not compatible with the retention of the employment use, it is 
considered that the release of the land to residential development should no 
longer be resisted on planning policy grounds and such approach complies with 
the NPPF. 
 
Design and Layout  
 
The applicant has worked with the officers of the Council and the Local Highway 
Authority to achieve a development layout which takes account of the long 
boundary wall to the south of the site; the existing residential properties to the 
east; the vacant site to the north which is at a lower level to this site; and the 
development sites to the west and east which are the subject of the concurrent 
planning applications. 
 
This site lies between the two scheme that seek planning permission on 
18/00083/ful and 18/00142/ful and as a result there are no residential properties 
directly affected by it. There is existing employment uses to the north of the site, 
however these are not particularly large units and do not currently generate noise 
or smell which would affect the future occupiers. 
 
The development layout relies on a looped link around the application site, which 
is partly within land not within land controlled by Magenta to the west. This allows 
a split in the flow of traffic around the two longer loops of the site. Whilst the layout 
is linear in the main, effort has been made to vary the dwelling positions to provide 
interest and relieve the monotony. The house types are varied, though most have 
an L-shape layout which again provides design interest and contrasting materials 
for the first floors are a positive inclusion in the street scene. 
 
Private garden provision is at an acceptable scale, in the main achieving 70sqm or 
above, where they do not, they do not fall below 50sqm. 
 
Boundary treatment is of a high quality, where visible in the wider street scene, 
this is brick wall and fence infill on side boundaries and railings to the property 
frontages.  
 
A robust landscaping scheme will be required by condition and where visible in 
the street scene, the boundary with the sub-station and former industrial site to the 
north is hedge screening.  

Page 49



The condition of the existing boundary wall to the south of the site is addressed in 
the terms of the S.106 in order that it is reinforced and treated to ensure a high 
quality treatment. 
 
The layout as amended achieves that a scheme  of 11 dwellings which  can   
be  delivered  within  the  site  that  would  comply  with  the  design  of  New  
Residential    Development    SPD  and  Policies  BE1,  BE2  and  H6  of  the  
Halton UDP and CS18 of the Halton Core Strategy. 
 
Public Open Space 

 
The layout plan that shows there would be no onsite open space provision.  In 
accordance with Policy H3 where it is demonstrated that there is no practical 
alternative of that it would be better to do so, a contribution can be made and 
secured through a S106 agreement to improve or extend existing provision or 
provide new open space off site.   In this particular case it is considered that it 
would not be practical to provide open space requirement onsite, and that this can 
be provided for off-site and secured by way of a S106 agreement which the 
applicant has agreed to. 

 
Highway Safety  
 
The Local Highway Authority has commented as follows:-  
 
Layout: 

 The applicant has worked with the Highways Officer and Planner to develop 

the scheme and the majority of layout issues have been resolved 

 It is noted that the scheme layout as shown on the latest plans is not  
deliverable without the loop road associated with 18/00083/FUL and the 
emergency link to Stonehills as shown on 18/00142/FUL 

 Road widths are 5.5m throughout the development which is considered 
acceptable. 

 The traffic calming shown on the plans is considered suitable 

 Visibility splays at junctions and driveways should be to manual for streets 
standard. 

 No details of boundary treatments  
 
Parking: 

 The proposed plots all have suitable parking provision with additional 
opportunities for on street parking 

 Side by side driveways or single driveways sited between dwellings should 
have a minimum width of 3m and driveways should be a minimum length of 
5m, ideally 6m. 

 Provision should be made to encourage the use of electric vehicles, Further 
guidance on EV charging points can be found in the document produced by 
the Liverpool City Region http://www.merseytravel.gov.uk/about-us/local-
transport-delivery/documents/e-mobility-strategy.pdf. Specific regard should 

Page 50

http://www.merseytravel.gov.uk/about-us/local-transport-delivery/documents/e-mobility-strategy.pdf
http://www.merseytravel.gov.uk/about-us/local-transport-delivery/documents/e-mobility-strategy.pdf


be paid to 3.2.2 Table 3 “Min. provision of parking bays and charging points in 
new developments”. 

 
Other Issues: 

 Given the nature of the site, access to main drainage and topography we 
would recommend full details for surface water and foul drainage systems to 
be submitted prior to any decision being made. 

 Although no revised vertical alignment information to support the current 
layout has been received the layout appears to be deliverable to acceptable 
gradients. 

 Details should be submitted for approval prior to any works on site. 

 The site meets the requirements with regards to accessibility in terms of 
distance from bus stops and is therefore considered suitable. 

 A full construction management plan should be submitted prior to 
commencement of works. All construction related vehicle parking should be 
accommodated on site and deliveries to site be suitably managed. 
Wheelwash facilities and a road sweeper regime should be provided as 
appropriate, with winter management/gritting plan. Details of how 
underground services will be dealt with should also be included. 

 
Transport Statement: 

 Although a transport Statement has been submitted to accompany the 
application we question some of the methods used to compile the report.  

 The data used to demonstrate movements for the extant use are agreed and 
considered suitable. 

 To generate trips for the proposed development however figures have been 
extracted from a 2015 report submitted to support a previous outline 
application which we consider to be out of date. 

 Consideration has not given to the potential effects of the combined 
development on the junctions with Halton Road. 

 We would recommend that the Statement be resubmitted to cover all 3 
applications using revised Trics data and that a sensitivity test undertaken for 
the wider development. 

 We recommend that the developers work together to come up with a more 
holistic approach to the site that will provide a safe, resilient and accessible 
layout for the site as a whole.  

 
Note: we currently await a revised transport statement referencing the three 
conjoined planning applications 18/00083/FUL, 18/00142/FUL and 18/00143/FUL 
 

     Recommended Conditions: 

 A construction phase management plan is required for the proposed 
development 

 Development shall not commence until a scheme of offsite highway works 
including pedestrian crossing points, footway improvements is approved by 
local planning authority 

 Building(s) should not be occupied until the junctions and vehicular access 
has been constructed in accordance with the approved plans 

 Boundary treatments and landscaping should all be conditioned. 

Page 51



 No works should commence on site until level details for roads and plots are 
approved 

 
     Recommended S106: 

 To enable the schemes to progress a S106 would be required to gain an 
undertaking of cooperation as neither of the concurrent applications are 
deliverable in full without the other. There would need to be a joined up 
approach to phasing and delivery. 

 A S106 will be required to deliver the 3 related planning applications as a 
comprehensive development. 

 
The application has received three objections from local residents in relation to 
increased car using Halton Court and highway safety impacts  
 
This application has been reviewed by the Local Highway Authority, who has no 
objections to the principle of the development and the access from Halton Court.  
The current site in theory could be brought back into use without the need for any 
new planning permissions, and attract a significant amount of commercial and 
HGV traffic that would be much less desirable through a residential area, and 
would pose more of a conflict and potential highway safety issues. In this respect, 
the release of the land for housing would have a beneficial impact, however this 
view is further dependent on the submission of the Transport Assessment that has 
been requested to ensure the proposal complies with Policy TP17 of the Halton 
UDP. Members will be updated on this verbally.  

 
Affordable Housing 
 
The applicant for the development is LHT/Onward Living, the business name of 
Wirral Partnership Homes Ltd, who are a registered charity and social landlords. 
In accordance with planning policy CS13 of the Core Strategy Local Plan, there is 
a requirement for the provision of 25% affordable housing. This proposal is for 11 
dwellings which is only 1 unit over and above the maximum before the policy is 
applied. However it does provide 3 dwellings as affordable rent, the remainder 
being shared ownership, which is just under the provision requirements. As the 
entire development is to be provides sufficient affordable housing to comply with 
Policy CS13 it is considered that this minor shortfall is acceptable and the site will 
contribute positively to the affordable housing provision in the borough.  
 
Flood Risk and Drainage 
 
United Utilities have provided comments stating they have no objection to the 
proposed development provided a  condition  is attached that no development 
approved by this permission shall commence until a scheme for the disposal of 
foul and surface waters for the entire site has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
With regards to flood risk, the  application  has  been  submitted  with  a  flood  
risk  assessment  which has been produced in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework, and Planning Practice Guidance.  
 

Page 52



In accordance with the Planning Practice Guidance note the local planning 
authority has consulted the lead local flood authority on surface water drainage. 
Comments are as follows:- 
 
It is noted that calculations and commentaries have been made in the FRA for 
east and west sites, the catchment boundaries for which do not correspond with 
the current 3 no. application boundaries. Notwithstanding this, the flood risk and 
drainage considerations can be looked at across the three application sites as a 
whole. 
 
It is noted that the developer has now calculated discharge rates in line with 
Halton’s SFRA for attenuation of brownfield site runoff, which is a change from the 
observations made in previous comments by Adrian regarding greenfield runoff 
rates. This is still acceptable to the LLFA. As it has been demonstrated that 
infiltration/soakaways are not a viable option, the preferred strategy is to outfall to 
combined sewer (the least preferable option in the SUDS hierarchy). Therefore, it 
is noted in the FRA that United Utilities (UU) may seek to further limit discharge 
rates. The recent UU correspondence confirms this to be the case and a limit of 
50l/s has been set by UU (compared with 88.25+90.97 l/s calculated for 70% of 1 
in 2 yr storm event).  
 
Clarification is required as to whether the UU specified rate applies to the three 
sites as a whole. The submitted drainage strategy lacks sufficient detail to 
comment on the drainage proposals and does not appear to reflect the latest UU 
correspondence. The applicant will be required to demonstrate that a scheme of 
attenuation can be provided which will not cause flooding of properties in the 
design (1 in 100 year plus climate change) event. It appears that the outline 
drainage proposal (attached) will be capable of being adapted to support any 
likely order of implementation of the 3 No. development sites and appropriate 
discharge rates would need to be agreed (pro rata to total runoff) for each site. 
 
The developer should therefore submit a further detailed drainage strategy for 
each site (or development as a whole dependent on phasing). This could be 
conditioned for approval prior to commencement: 
 
The drainage strategy should confirm that United Utilities has approved any sewer 
connection, has agreed the SW flow rates including any onsite attenuation and 
that any on site drainage proposed for adoption will be accepted by United 
Utilities.  
 
This will ensure that the scheme complies with Halton UDP Policy PR5, PR16, CS 
Policy CS23 and the requirements of the NPPF. 
 
Ecology and Habitats 
 
The Council’s consultant, Merseyside Environmental Advisory Services have 
commented as follows:- 
 
The applicant has submitted an ecological survey report in accordance with Local 
Plan policy CS20 (Preliminary Ecological Survey Report, Estrada Ecology, 

Page 53



December 2017). The survey is acceptable and will be forwarded to Cheshire 
rECOrd via Merseyside BioBank. 
 
Given that there is a substantial building on the site which is to be removed, a bat 
survey is required and the applicant was in the process of submitting this at the 
time of writing the report. An update on this will be presented to members. 
 
The applicant, their advisers and contractors should be made aware that if any 
European protected species are found, then as a legal requirement, work must 
cease and advice must be sought from a licensed specialist. It is recommended 
that this forms an informative on the decision notice.  

 
The ecologist has pointed out that the built features or vegetation on site may 
provide nesting opportunities for breeding birds, which are protected. A condition 
is therefore recommended that no tree felling, scrub clearance, hedgerow 
removal, vegetation management, ground clearance and/or building works is to 
take place during the period 1 March to 31 August inclusive. If it is necessary to 
undertake works during the bird breeding season then all buildings, trees, scrub 
and hedgerows are to be checked first by an appropriately experienced ecologist 
to ensure no breeding birds are present. If present, details of how they will be 
protected would be required. This can be secured by a suitably worded planning 
condition. 
 
Given the proximity to the semi-natural woodland a condition has been 
recommended for the submission of a lighting scheme. 
 
The ecologist has also recommended that further information is required from the 
applicant to assess the recreational impact on nearby designated sites which will 
be further assessed prior to determination. Members will be provided with an 
update in relation to this submission. 
 
All details as required should comply with Policy CS20 of the Halton Local Plan. 
 
Natural England raised no objection to the proposal but commented as follows:- 
Recreational disturbance to internationally designated sites in the Liverpool City 
Region 
Recreational disturbance to internationally protected coastal sites in the Liverpool 
City Region (LCR) is an issue across the LCR. This pressure is a particular issue 
through in-combination effects, for example additional housing may result in 
additional recreational visits and therefore increase disturbance at the coastal 
designated sites. 
 
Assessment of this impact needs to be undertaken at the plan and project stage. 
These assessments needs to satisfy the sequential tests of the Habitat 
Regulations. This Habitat Regulations Assessment needs to be undertaken prior 
to determination to ensure the competent authority is making a sound and legal 
decision. Subject to the conclusion of the HRA appropriate mitigation and 
compensation measures may be further required to ensure no adverse effect on 
integrity of designated sites.  
 

Page 54



The Visitor Management Strategy (to mitigate recreational disturbance), subject to 
finalisation and Council approval, will be an important enabling mechanism to help 
LPAs and developers across the LCR address the issue arising from additional 
housing and tourism related development, thus helping deliver Habitat 
Regulations compliance and contribute to sustainable development.  
 
Members will be provided with an update of the applicant’s progress in this regard. 
 
Noise 
 
The Council’s Environmental Health officer has commented that this proposal 
locates houses in close proximity to the commercial uses at Puritan Buildings. As 
such the applicant should provide a noise report indicating that the internal noise 
levels of the properties closest to the Puritan Buildings (plots 88-93) can comply 
with the standards in BS8233:2014. This can be done through the attachment of a 
planning condition. 

 
Waste  
 
Policy WM8 of the Waste Local Plan (Waste Prevention) and WM9 (Layout and 
Design) would apply to this proposal.  
 
The proposed layout incorporates front to rear access for bin storage. A condition 
is recommended to minimise waste production during the construction phase 
through a waste audit or similar mechanism. In doing so WM8 is complied with. 

 
Contaminated Land 
 
The site is a former industrial unit and has been for many years, furthermore 
historic uses on the adjacent site include a Tannery, lard refinery and fuel storage 
and distribution (former Martindale fuels). 

 
The application was therefore submitted with a contaminated land report the 
Council’s Contaminated Land Officer and the Environment Agency has been 
consulted. The Environment Agency are satisfied that any further works required 
in relation to contaminated land can be dealt with through suitable conditions.  
 
The Council’s Land Contamination Officer is reviewing further information and his 
final comments are awaited. Members will be updated of these comments. 
 
6.SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS 
 
In conclusion, the  applicant  has  provided or has been requested to provide,  
sufficient  information  to demonstrate  that  the development is acceptable in 
terms of design; contaminated land and meets the policy requirements and 
standards of the Council and that a scheme of 11 dwellings and the associated 
works, is designed to meet the aims  of  the Design of New Residential    
Development  SPD and Policies BE1, BE2 and H6 and PR14 of the Halton UDP 
and CS18 of the Halton Core Strategy Local Plan. 

 

Page 55



Paragraph 22 of the NPPF has particular significance to this application, and 
therefore weight as a material consideration The site has been a long standing 
employment designation in the Unitary Development Plan, it  is  felt  that  due  to 
the  lack  of  interest  in  this  land  for employment  use, despite having been 
marketed for many years,  and based on  the  evidence  put  forward  by  the  
applicant,  the  application should not be refused on the grounds of retaining the 
site for employment use any further.   
 
Given the existing residential properties off Stonehills Lane, which are not 
compatible with the retention of the employment use, it is considered that the 
release of the land for residential development should no longer be resisted on 
planning policy grounds. 

 
Although  the  proposal  is  a  departure  from  Policy  E3 of  the  Halton  Unitary 
Development Plan, it is considered to be sustainable development consistent with 
the  economic,  social  and  environmental  roles  of  sustainable  development 
outlined in paragraph 7 of the NPPF.    
  
It is on this basis members are asked to approve the application. 
 
With regard to the outstanding submissions of a Transport Assessment and Bat 
Survey, Members are requested to provide authority under the Council’s Scheme 
of Delegation to allow the Operational Director – Policy, Planning & Transportation 
to determine the application following the submission of further information 
relating to highway safety and ecology. That the application be delegated 
determine. If the application is approved this would be subject to the following 
conditions (and any additional considered necessary following consultation. 

 
7.  RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
A) The applicant entering into a legal agreement in relation to the payment of a 
commuted sum for off-site open space; the provision of internal highway linkages; 
demolition; land decontamination. 
 
B) Conditions relating to the following; 
 
1.  Standard 3 year condition (BE1)  
2.  Plans condition listing relevant drawings e.g. site location / red edge (BE1, BE2    

and TP17)  
3.  Prior to commencement the submission of a full drainage strategy for the site 

(BE1, PR5 and PR16)  
4.  Prior commencement full details of ground contamination risk and scheme of 

decontamination where necessary (PR14) 
5.  Prior to commencement submission of levels (BE1 and TP17)  
6.  Prior to commencement submission of surface water drainage details (BE1 

and TP17) 
7.  Prior to commencement a noise report shall be submitted indicating that the   

internal noise levels of the properties closest to the Puritan Buildings (plots 
88-93) can comply with the standards in BS8233:2014 (PR2) 

Page 56



8.  Prior to commencement scheme of off-site highway works to be agreed and 
implementation before development begins (BE1 and TP17) 

9.  Prior to commencement submission of materials (BE1 and CS11)  
10.  Conditions(s) for submission of hard and soft landscaping (BE1 and BE2)  
11.  Prior to commencement submission of a scheme for the treatment of the 

north  site boundary with particular regard to the north facing impact (BE2 and 
BE22) 

12.  Prior to commencement submission of a construction / traffic management  
     plan which will include wheel cleansing details (TP17)  
13. Avoidance of actively nesting birds (BE1 and GE21)  
14. Prior to commencement details of on-site biodiversity action plan for  
      measures to be incorporated in the scheme to encourage wildlife (GE21)  
15. Prior to commencement details of a landscape proposal and an associated  
      plan to be submitted and approved (BE1 and GE21)  
16. Prior to commencement details of boundary treatments, including Emergency    

Access details (BE22)  
17. Prior to commencement details of surfaces within dwelling curtilages (BE1 and 

TP17) 
18. Prior to commencement details of a lighting scheme (GE21) 
19. Provision of a Site Waste Management Plan (WM8) 
20. Provision of separate foul and waste water system (PR5) 
21. Provision of bins (WM9) 
22. Construction Hours (BE1) 

 
C) That if the legal agreement is not executed within a reasonable period of time 
authority is delegated to the Operational Director- Policy, Planning and 
Transportation in consultation with the Chairman or Vice Chairman to refuse the 
application on the grounds that it fails to comply with UDP Policy S25 Planning 
Obligations. 
 
SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT  
 
As required by:   
 
•  Paragraph 186 – 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework;   
•  The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure)  
(England) (Amendment No.2) Order 2012; and   
•  The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) (Amendment)  
(England) Regulations 2012.   
 
This statement confirms that the local planning authority has worked proactively  
with the applicant to secure developments that improve the economic, social and  
environmental conditions of Halton. 
 

 
 

Page 57



Development Control Committee

Application Number: 

Development Control Committee
6th August 2018

P
age 58



Development Control Committee

Application Number: 18/00083/FUL Plan 1A: Location Plan

P
age 59



Development Control Committee

Application Number: 18/00083/FUL Plan 1B: Site Plan

P
age 60



Development Control Committee

Application Number: 18/00083/FUL Plan 1C: House Type A1& A1/A2

P
age 61



Development Control Committee

Application Number: 18/00083/FUL Plan 1D: House Type A3/A4

P
age 62



Development Control Committee

Application Number: 18/00083/FUL Plan 1E: House Type B1& B2/B3

P
age 63



Development Control Committee

Application Number: 18/00083/FUL Plan 1F : House Type B4 & B4/B5

P
age 64



Development Control Committee

Application Number: 18/00083/FUL Plan 1G : House Type B6

P
age 65



Development Control Committee

Application Number: 18/00083/FUL Plan 1H : House Type C1 & C2/C3

P
age 66



Development Control Committee

Application Number: 18/00083/FUL Plan 1I : House Type D1

P
age 67



Development Control Committee

Application Number: 18/00083/FUL Plan 1J : House Type D1/D2

P
age 68



Development Control Committee

Application Number: 18/00083/FUL Plan 1K : House Type D3

P
age 69



Development Control Committee

Application Number: 18/00083/FUL Plan 1L :  Aerial Photograph

P
age 70



Development Control Committee

Application Number: 18/00142/FUL Plan 2A :  Location Plan

P
age 71



Development Control Committee

Application Number: 18/00142/FUL Plan 2B :  Site Plan

P
age 72



Development Control Committee

Application Number: 18/00142/FUL Plan 2C :  Aerial Photograph

P
age 73



Development Control Committee

Application Number: 18/00143/FUL Plan 3A :  Site Plan

P
age 74


	Agenda
	1 MINUTES
	3 PLANNING APPLICATIONS TO BE DETERMINED BY THE COMMITTEE
	18.00083.FUL - Halton Court, Runcorn
	18.00142.FUL - Land off Stonehills Lane,, Runcorn-Draft Final
	18.00143.FUL - Halton Court, Runcorn - 2
	Cttee_Aug


